
Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda, Supplementary 

Tuesday, September 19, 2017, 7.00p
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
II. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
III. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from August 15, 2017 meeting
IV. Open forum for the general public Sheppard
V. Board officer elections (ACTION) Sheppard
VI. Technology and Maintenance Plan Fox and Jacobs
VII. Reports 

i. Friends update Fox
ii. Foundation update Fox 
iii. August financial statements Fox
iv. Director's report Fox

VIII.Previous business   
IX.  New business

i. Discussion Supplemental Budget         Sheppard
ii. Discussion Community ID card Sheppard

X. Agenda items for next meeting                                                                Sheppard
XI. Adjournment   Sheppard
_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, 
Executive Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are 
scheduled for the current meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the 
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. 
Sign language interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours 
notice is given.

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19] 1



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda, Supplementary 

Tuesday, September 19, 2017, 7.00p
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
II. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
III. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from August 15, 2017 meeting
Attachment: III.i. Minutes from August 15, 2017 meeting

IV. Open forum for the general public Sheppard
V. Board officer elections (ACTION) Sheppard
At the August 15, 2017 board meeting, Fox recorded a voice vote for the vice president 
election but has no record of a motion and second. Fox is requesting the board please 
elect the vice president again. Bureker stated she is willing to serve. Further nominations 
can be taken from the floor, too. The successful candidate requires a majority of the vote 
in favor. After the election, the Board President will need to state the President Jean 
Sheppard, Vice President, Director Rachael Fox and Assistant Director Arwen Ungar are 
authorized signers on the account. Fox will provide the meeting minutes to the bank to 
update the bank signature card.

VI. Technology Replacement and Maintenance Schedule Fox and Jacob
Attachment: 

• VI.i.a. Technology Replacement and Maintenance Schedule
• VI.i.b. Minutes Special Meeting, Planning Session May 15, 2017

Ken Jacobs will be present to answer any questions from the Board. According to the 
Board Governance Plan, section M, the Board shall undertake an annual planning session.
Last fiscal year, the board focused on creating a Technology Replacement and 
Maintenance Schedule. 

The plan incorporates most of the recommendations and suggestions from the planning 
session. After I spoke to staff and Jacobs, I’d like to make the following recommendations 
which differ from the recommendations made at the meeting: 

• The board discussed having monitors on a 5 year replacement cycle. I recommend 
the monitors be replaced as needed. Jacobs and I both thought this would save the 
District money. Jacobs stated that monitors can still function well beyond five 
years. 

• There was a recommendation to have another computer or tablets in the kids 
library. We currently have one desktop computer in the kids area. This computer is 
outdated and will be replaced this fiscal year and will have new speakers installed. 
We used to have another desktop in the area but the space is now covered by a 

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19], supplementary info 2



mural by Mark Nilsson and converted into a play area. I spoke to the Children’s 
Services Librarian Jana Hannigan and she stated she has not experienced patrons 
waiting for the computer. At this time, I do not recommend adding another desktop
in the children’s area due to limited demand and space constraints. Library staff 
would like to have the new MakerSpace in the children’s department as an area 
where technology is available. For example, tablets and/or laptops, etc. We are in 
the beginning planning stages for this space, which we hope to have up and 
running shortly after the first of the year.  

Updates:
• The technology inventory list has been updated and populated with some purchase

dates, as recommended by former board member, Sara Snyder. Our records only 
go back three years, so moving forward I will keep track of purchase dates. 

• Hood River County has agreed to provide the District with a temporary network 
switch if one should fail. 

• I am working with the City of Cascade Locks and Gorge.net to increase the Internet
speed. This has been delayed due to the Eagle Creek Fire.

• The microfilm/research computer will be updated with either a new version of 
Windows or new software. 

• We are currently experiencing delay issues with printing, which Jacobs and I are 
working to resolve. The goal will be to have all black and white copies go through 
the public copier.

• Jacobs and I will work together to hardwire all the public machines, which will free 
up the wireless network for patrons to access with their devices.

• The public scanner stopped working and was replaced. 
• Jacobs and I determined it will cost around $4,000 this fiscal year to replace 9 

machines and $1,000 to replace 5 monitors which are near their end of lifespan. 
This estimate includes the pay for Ken’s hourly rate. The District spends nearly 
$2,500 a year for website, email package, eNewletter service, and network switch 
support fees. This leaves around $2,500 for other technology replacement and 
Ken’s hourly rate for updates and support if needed. 

VII. Reports 
i. Friends update Fox

The Friends of the Library met earlier this month after their summer break. They are 
looking at how to increase their membership. They are still busy providing many hours of 
volunteer support by processing new materials, donations and cleaning dirty books. The 
Hood River County Reads committee has narrowed down their selection for next year and
have a few excellent options.

ii. Foundation update Fox
The Library Foundation also met at the beginning of this month after their summer break.
They are starting to focus on their annual Feast of Words Fundraiser. They also reviewed 
their fund raising plan for the year. 

iii. August financial statements Fox
The accountant who has been handling the District account for the past five years has left
Onstott, Broehl and Cyphers. They are training another accountant from their firm, Brien 
Gibson, to take over the District account. Due to this change, the financial statements 
were not ready at the time the board packets was distributed. They will be included in the
October board packet. 

iv. Director's report Fox

Page 2

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19], supplementary info 3



Attachments: 
• VII.iv.a. Statistics 2016-17
• VII.iv.b. Statistics 2017-18
• VII.iv.c. Program Statistics 2016-17
• VII.iv.d. Program Statistics 2017-18

Administration

• A former Hood River County Library employee, Arvilla Armstrong passed away last 
year. Arvilla left the Library District $82,944.97. We received the check a few 
weeks ago from the law firm who handled her estate.  

Facilities

• Our maintenance person Michael Love-Peterson has informed me there are lighting
units which are starting to fail in the Hood River building. He suggested over time 
to replace all the “can” lights with LED options, over the next several years. Love-
Peterson suggested each year we can budget for a section to be completed. I am 
working with Hire Electric to get a price quote to replace the six light units that are 
currently not working. I’ll also explore the option of replacing units as they fail. In 
addition, the interior components of the large circular lights in the history Reading 
Room are also deteriorating. Hire Electric will investigate and provide estimates. 
I’m also having them look at two downspouts which have heating element inside, 
which were not working last winter. The heating elements keeps the downspouts 
from freezing. 

• The Stoltz Stone Wall repair project is almost finished. 

• The Parkdale Branch Library remodel is on schedule to take place in October or 
early November. I’m obtaining price quotes for carpet and selecting paint colors. 
The Parkdale Fire District, who manage the Parkdale Community building, have 
approved my request to store the contents of the library in their community room 
during the remodel. 

• I will soon be exploring locations in Odell to have a weekly bookmobile. This would 
provide a regular time and place for residents of Odell to come check out library 
items and pick up holds. In addition, when we obtain funding for laptop computers,
we will also have laptops with Internet access to be used by patrons.

Personnel

• Bilingual Outreach Specialist Patty Lara-Martinez has resigned from the District. 
She has accepted a position at Westside Elementary School. We thank her for her 
service to our community. We are happy to announce we have hired Yeli Boots to 
fill the position. Boots has worked for the District for five years as the Children’s 
Services Assistant. Boots has provided outstanding service to children and families 
in Hood River County. She has been conducting the baby/toddler storytime in Hood 
River, co-created and co-hosted the Odell Bus Project and built a strong 
relationship with the Parkdale Elementary School, which cosponsors the Parkdale 
Summer Reading Program. Boots has many new and exciting ideas and will focus 
on serving Hispanic and Spanish speaking patrons in Hood River County with a 
special emphasis on Odell. 

Page 3

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19], supplementary info 4



• We have opened the Children’s Services Assistant position externally. We have 
advertised locally and within the Pacific Northwest. It is a 30 hour per week 
position, with benefits. We are seeking a bilingual candidate who loves working 
with children and families.

• We are happy to announce we have hired Mo Burford to fill the Operations 
Assistant position. This position is vital to providing many of the behind the scenes 
tasks and support. This position also serves as volunteer coordinator. We expanded
the scope of the position to also include creating marketing materials for the 
District. Mo has worked for over a year at the District as a Public Service Clerk. Mo 
brings strong organizational skills, excellent customer services skills, and is team 
oriented. 

• Substitute Public Service Clerk Helen Alexeff has moved into the vacant Public 
Service Clerk position. We are excited to be able to offer Alexeff a permanent 
position at the District. She also has excellent customer service skills and the staff 
and public enjoy working with her. 

• Due to the new staffing changes in the children’s department, the presentation by 
the Children’s department has been rescheduled for early next year. This will allow 
time for our new staff member to become trained in the position and participate in 
the presentation.

Programs

• We ended our Summer Reading Program with our annual Unity Picnic on Saturday, 
August 26. We had a live band, taco bar and activities provided by local 
organizations. We had around 400 in attendance.

Statistics

In comparing the statistics from FY 2015-16 to FY 2016-17:

• Increase 9.3% of computer use 

• Increase 20% of followers on Facebook page

• Increase 13% in items checked out by patrons district wide. This increase is 
impressive, especially since the District was closed several days due to the 
weather and patrons had difficulty reaching branch locations. 

• Decrease 3% in program attendance, which I believe was caused by the 
cancellation of several programs due to weather. 

VIII.Previous business   
IX.  New business

i. Discussion Supplemental Budget      Sheppard
Attachment: IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18
I would like to open a discussion regarding creating a supplemental budget. Since the 
expenditures I plan to propose do not exceed 10% of the total expenditures of the 
General Fund, we can create a supplemental budget that can be approved by resolution 
at a regular board meeting. It will not involve a public hearing. 

Page 4

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19], supplementary info 5



I would like to propose the District consider spending a portion of the Arvilla Armstrong 
donation. In addition, the District received $18,000 more in tax revenue last fiscal year 
than anticipated, which can be applied to the recommendations below.  

Over the last two fiscal years there has been an increase in personnel costs. This 
increase, coupled with the yearly transfer to the Capital Equipment Reserve Fund, created
more in expenditures than revenue. The District had $41,539 more in expenditures than 
revenue in the 2015-2016 fiscal year, due to payroll for July 2016 was paid in June 2016. 
This occurred due to an early deposit date because the payroll date fell on the weekend. 
In fiscal year 2016-17, the District was projected to spend $40,000 more in expenditures, 
than revenue. There was ample funds in the Unappropriated Ending Fund Balance reserve
which had been built up of the early years of the District, to cover the costs. 

The Unappropriated Ending Fund Balance is the money the District sets aside in the 
budget to carry the District from July to November, when the bulk of the tax revenue is 
received. This year the District carried over $533,024, which $100,000 is reserved for 
contingency. Then $433,024 is available. I projected the District will spend $74,475 per 
month this fiscal year, so the District will need $335,132 to move forward. The budget is 
created so there is room to spend beyond the limits of needed, especially to 
accommodate any unexpected expenses like increase in personnel expenses due to 
health care increases if there are staffing changes and HVAC and building maintenance 
costs. The budget created this year projected a carry over of $515,000 and an 
unappropriated ending fund balance of $336,015.

This year our goal in creating the budget was to get back in line to having the 
expenditures equal near the revenue. This is due to the fact the District will soon be 
affected by minimum wage increases and there will be large capital projects like the roof 
and HVAC system replacement in the future. This year’s budget showed a tightening to 
the personnel costs and a decrease in the budget for Materials and Services.

This fiscal year, the collection development budget was reduced by $20,000. The Library 
Foundation and Friends of the Library gave $13,000 to supplement the collection budget 
and I would like propose we increase spending of $7,000 for the collection, which would 
bring the budget to $75,000, which is the amount budgeted last year. Our Collection 
Development Specialist and Children’s Librarian have both expressed they feel like we 
can better serve our community by expanding their budget to aid in purchasing more 
items. Most public libraries in the United States spend around 10% of their operations 
budget on collection. I estimate our regular operating expenses to be $930,000 which 
include General Fund Revenue, Foundation and Friends donations, which would place us 
around $93,000. I would like to get closer to that goal. 

I recommend increasing the substitute budget from .25 FTE to .5 FTE for the remainder of
the fiscal year, which will cost around $7,000. Last year this position was reduced from .5 
FTE to .25 FTE. Arwen and I want to ensure there is enough coverage for desk shifts to 
accommodate staff who use sick and vacation leave. 

I would like to also propose increasing the fund for the HVAC system to $18,000, which 
would be an additional $6,000 dollars. While I do not expect to use all of this, we will have
room if more components which are wearing out on the unit need to be replaced. I will 
work with Northwest control to get estimates on parts they may think need to be 

Page 5

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19], supplementary info 6



replaced in the near future and the cost and time line of eventually replacing the whole 
unit, so we can be prepare for the future. 

Using the $18,000 of additional tax revenue from last year, we would potentially use 
$2,000 from the donation. 

The rest of the funds, I think we should place in the unappropriated ending fund balance, 
which means it can not be spent this fiscal year.

Due to the recent donation, I recommend we consider using money from the capital fund 
if needed for the Cascade Locks Branch. The fund is expected to have around $100,000 
after we complete our capital projects this year. I recommend we plan to spend up to 
$30,000. I will work hard to get grants and the foundation is willing to help raise funds, 
but the option will be there if needed. We will still have $100,000 available in the 
contingency fund we are free to spend, if an emergency arises. 

In addition, I recommend we increase the amount of expenditures for the Grants fund for 
the Library Foundation in the amount of $27,000. This change will be under the 10%. This
will allow the District to spend any funds the Foundation raises this year for the Cascade 
Locks branch within this fiscal year, which will allow us to meet our deadline of moving 
into the Cascade Locks branch by June 30, 2017. 

ii. Discussion Community ID card Sheppard
Attachment: IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID 
program 

Mark Thomas from Providence and Vicky Stifter from Riverside Church and a number of 
other leaders across Hood River County are interested in the idea of Community (or 
Municipal) ID cards. There is a group who have formed a committee to explore the idea. 
Vicky and I met to discuss the topic. 

Municipal IDs are identification cards issued by, or with the approval of, local 
governments (cities or counties). They feature the photo of the cardholder, along with 
other basic identifying information such as address and date of birth. The benefits tied to 
a municipal ID card vary depending on the locality, but typically all government agencies 
and officials (including the police) will accept the card as proof of identity in any 
interaction with a community member. In some cases they may also provide the 
cardholder with benefits at local businesses, museums, and entertainment venues. 
Although available to all residents of a city, the cards are beneficial for the most 
vulnerable community members—undocumented immigrants, the homeless, foster 
youth, the elderly, formerly incarcerated individuals, and others who may have difficulty 
obtaining and retaining other government-issued ID.

The group is scheduled to present the idea to the County Board of Commissioners on 
October 16. In their research studying other communities where these programs have 
been successfully implemented, one model they found works well is for the government 
entity to contract with a local community organization to do the work of issuing the cards.
At this point, they do not know which option would be most attractive to Hood River 
County, but they see value in the Library District’s culturally and linguistically diverse 
staff, multiple locations and trusted reputation. They would like to explore the possibility 

Page 6

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19], supplementary info 7



of making this recommendation to the County Board of Commissioners. 

Any plan to move forward would include full funding for the added costs of labor, 
equipment, and administration. In their preliminary research, they estimate raising funds 
for an .6 FTE position. They would charge $10 for the card which would go towards 
funding the project. 

I would like to discuss this proposal further at the meeting. 

X. Agenda items for next meeting                                                                Sheppard
• Presentation by Teen Services Librarian Rachel Timmons
• Auditing proposals

XI. Adjournment   Sheppard
_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, 
Executive Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are 
scheduled for the current meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the 
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. 
Sign language interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours 
notice is given.

Page 7

Board meeting agenda [2017-09-19], supplementary info 8



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda, Supplementary 

Tuesday, August 15, 2017, 7.00p
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

Present: Jean Sheppard, Brian Hackett, Sara Marsden, Megan Janik, Karen Bureker, Rachael Fox 
(Staff)

I. Swearing in new Board member Sheppard
President Jean Sheppard called the meeting to order at 7:04pm. Sheppard swore in Karen 
Bureker to the board.

II. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
Bureker moved to approve the agenda as presented. Janik seconded. The motion carried 
unanimously.

III. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
None stated.

IV. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from July 18, 2017 meeting
Bureker moved to approve the minutes of the July 18, 2017, meeting as presented. Marsden 
seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 
V. Open forum for the general public Sheppard
None present.
VI. Board officer elections (ACTION) Sheppard
There was voice vote, which carried unanimously. 
VII. Reports 

i. Friends update Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report. 

ii. Foundation update Fox

iii. July financial statements Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report. 

iv. Director's report Fox
Bureker asked if IT Specialist Ken Jacobs will be present for the meeting to discuss the Technology 
and Maintenance Replacement Plan. Fox stated she did not plan on having him attend and would 
present the written report.  
VIII.Previous business   

i. Review of strategic goals Fox
The Board reviewed the progress made on the strategic goals. Board member discussed the Library 
of Things, Sheppard suggested circulating art work, Fox mentioned tools and Marsden suggested 
board games. Bureker suggested contacting Meal on Wheels to reach out to homebound and 
connecting with the Free Lunch program during the summer. Board members also discuss marketing. 
Sheppard suggested a focus group using the Kickstand book group and utilizing the Hood River 
News. Marsden suggested asking patrons when they check out, if they want to sign up for the 

III.i. Board meeting minutes [2017-08-15] 9



eNewsletter. Hackett suggested offering classes on how to do research. 
ii. Financial Management policy update (ACTION)  Sheppard

Bureker moved to adopt Resolution 2017-18.04, Amending the Financial Management Policy. Janik 
seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

iii. Japanese Garden plans (ACTION) Sheppard

The Board approved of the plans. Sheppard stated no action was needed.

IX.  New business
i. Internet contract renewal (ACTION)      Sheppard

Hackett motioned to approve the Gorge.net contract renewal for a two-year term for $324.95 per 
month. Marsden seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

ii. Estimate rebuilding stone wall (ACTION) Sheppard
Bureker motioned to approve the estimate for $3,900 by Michael Bryne to rebuild the stone wall. 
Hackett seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

iii. Estimate walkway repair (ACTION)
Bureker stated the project make cost more than anticipated and we should approve a higher amount. 
Marsden asked about the two contingencies listed on the estimate. Contingency 1 was discussed. Fox
stated she told the firm the District was not interested in adding seating in the open space in the 
Gardens because of the additional cost, plenty of seating in the Gardens and a new bench will 
installed in the Min Yasui Legacy Garden, located within the Gardens. Fox asked if the Board is 
interested in exploring that option and stated she can obtain more information and pictures. The Board
decided to not pursue the benches. The Board discussed Contingency 2, to stamp the service area in 
a ‘Roman slate’ stamp, which is a free complimentary upgrade. Bureker made a motion to approve up 
spending to $7,000 and to include the free complimentary upgrade. Mardsen seconded. The motion 
passed unanimously.
X. Agenda items for next meeting                                                                       Sheppard

XI. Adjournment   Sheppard
The meeting was adjourned at 8:35pm.
_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, Executive 
Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled for the current 
meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the Jeanne Marie 
Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign language 
interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is given.

Page 2

III.i. Board meeting minutes [2017-08-15] 10



Technology Maintenance and Replacement Schedule
2017-2022

Inventory
Cascade Locks
6 public computers 
1 staff computer, including barcode scanner (5yo)
1 copier/printer/scanner
Internet connection: 1.5 mbps cable connection, public wifi (City of Cascade Locks) This will 
soon be upgraded to 5-10 mbps

Hood River
1 copier (leased)
1 copier/printer/scanner
1 scanner
11 public computers 
1 children's computer 
3 catalog computers
2 selfcheck station with barcode scanner and receipt printer
2 network switches
9 barcode scanners
5 receipt printers
4 dymo label printers
9 staff desktop computers, most with barcode scanners
4 staff laptops
1 research computer
1 microfilm scanner
4 laserjet black/white printers
1 color laserjet printer
2 color inkjet printer
4 Wifi AP/Router 
Internet connection: 100 Mbps cable connection for public computers, wifi, and catalogs. 

Parkdale
5 public computers 
1 staff computer, including barcode scanner 
1 copier/printer/scanner
Internet connection: 2 Mbps connection, shared via fiber connection from Hood River's public 
network, public wifi (HREC)

Maintenance schedule: 
Perform security updates to Linux quarterly
Perform image update to Linux every 3 years 

VI.i.a.Technology maintance and replacement schedule [2017-2022] 11



Emerging technologies
Makerspace: tablet computers 
Makerspace: 3D printer
8-10 laptops for outreach and in-hours technology programs

Update technology needs
Add 1 public computer in Hood River and Parkdale to replace the two removed during the 
past year. 

Add another checkout station at the circulation area

Staff technology needs
File server

Replacement cycles: All public and staff computers shall be put on a 
5-year replacement cycle. Other technology shall be put on a device-
relevant cycle.
Grants: Some projects will be funded by grants, including newspaper digitization and 
migration of the district to Radio Frequency ID (RFID) technology.

Activities and programs: Technology drop-in troubleshooting program, regular e-reader 
classes, basic computer classes in English and Spanish, and advertising of currently-existing 
services.

Backup: Hood River County has offered to loan the District a network switch if one of our 
switches fail. This will allow the District to function while another switch is ordered. 

VI.i.a.Technology maintance and replacement schedule [2017-2022] 12



Board of Directors
Special Meeting Minutes
Tuesday, May 16, 2017, 5.00p

Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room
502 State St, Hood River
Sara Snyder President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox

Present: Sara Snyder, John Schoppert, Karen Bureker, Alexis Vaivoda and Jean Sheppard

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION)                              Snyder
Snyder called the meeting to order at 5:05pm. Bureker moved to approved the agenda as 
presented. Schoppert seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

II. II. Conflicts or potential conflicts of interest                                   Snyder
None stated.

III. III. Open forum for the general public                                               Snyder
Ken Jacobs, Hood River, Oregon was present.

IV. IV. Technology replacement and maintenance planning session    Jacobs
Snyder stated the goal of the session was to create a technology and maintenance replacement 
schedule for the library. This has been one of the goals of the Board.

Jacobs stated he provides the IT support for the District. He specializes in Linux based systems 
and provides on-call support. He also updates the machines on a regular basis. 

The Board discussed the children’s department and Jacobs stated he plans to rebuild the kids 
computer image and ensure there is a filter for the Internet. The Board discussed adding another 
computer or tablets in the kids area. Fox stated she would pursue the options. Snyder and 
Bureker mentioned the speakers were not working on the kids computer. Jacobs said he would 
look into it.

Jacobs and Fox said they would update the technology inventory list. Snyder suggested adding 
when the machines were purchased and Fox said she would add the information.

Jacobs and Fox expressed concerns if either of the two network switches failed. Jacobs said he 
would not recommend purchasing a back up switch because we don’t know how long our current 
switches will last and the back up switch could become outdated. Jacobs mentioned he would 
ask permission from Hood River County to borrow one of their back up switches, which would 
allow the District to get by until a replacement switch could be ordered. 

Snyder asked about the Cascade Locks Internet and stated 1.5 mbps is not sufficient for public 
use. Fox stated she would look into increasing the speed through the city of Cascade Locks for 
an increase in bandwidth or purchase Internet through another provider. 

Jacobs will explore updating the Microfilm/Research computer with a current version of 
Windows, which he thinks is required to run the scanner software.

VI.i.b. Board meeting minutes, planning session [2017-05-16] 13



Fox and Jacobs are exploring running all public black and white prints through the public copier 
instead of a desktop printer. 

The scanner may also need to be replaced since it’s nearing the end of it’s lifespan and has 
shown signs of deterioration. It will cost around $300 to $500 to replace. 

Jacobs and Fox stated they are going to work to hardwire all the public and staff computers to 
free up the wireless network for the public. 

There was discussion regarding the current budget for FY 2017-18 is $10,000 for technology. It 
is estimated it will cost $425 per machine to replace with the computer, monitor and time 
required for Ken to set up the computer. The Board, Director and Jacobs determined a 5 year 
replacement schedule would be ideal for all computers and monitors. Schoppert asked if we 
needed to replace keyboards and the computer mouse at the same time. After a discussion, it 
was determined those are best replaced when they fail.

Snyder mentioned the Technology Maintenance and Replacement Plan could be presented at 
the July meeting, or, perhaps another meeting if needed.

V. Adjournment                                                                                                                  Snyder
The meeting was adjourned at 6:33pm.

_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, Executive 
Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled for the current 
meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

Page 2

VI.i.b. Board meeting minutes, planning session [2017-05-16] 14



Circulation, 2016-17

Hood River

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

TOTAL 11,026 12,773 11,246 11,232 9,731 10,835 10,986 10,951 12,709 10,750 10,891 11,887 135,017

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 15



Cascade Locks

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

TOTAL 235 468 497 339 281 290 243 239 348 305 306 451 4,002

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 16



Parkdale

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

TOTAL 554 416 497 364 366 203 219 204 256 253 298 264 3,494

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 17



Districtwide

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

TOTAL 11,815 13,657 12,240 11,935 10,378 11,328 11,448 11,394 133,313 11,308 11,495 12,602 142,913

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 18



Interlibrary loans, 2016-17

Hood River
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 968 1,032 1,029 1,068 968 1,096 1,118 1,014 1,146 1,034 1,166 1,178 12,817
Borrowed from Sage 825 943 932 892 832 920 935 961 1,226 1,204 1,007 1,069 11,746

Sage difference 143 89 61 176 136 176 183 53 -80 -170 159 109 1,071

Cascade Locks
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 49 41 38 36 51 51 52 51 51 53 68 47 588
Borrowed from Sage 52 49 63 56 60 46 58 39 64 42 58 100 687

Sage difference -3 -8 -25 -20 -9 5 -6 12 -13 11 10 -53 -99

Parkdale
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 22 49 41 27 32 40 29 30 39 39 19 26 393
Borrowed from Sage 19 18 17 25 30 13 17 19 21 25 28 28 260

Sage difference 3 31 24 2 2 27 12 11 18 14 -9 -2 133

Districtwide
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 1,039 1,122 1,108 1,131 1,051 1,187 1,199 1,095 1,236 1,126 1,253 1,251 13,798
Borrowed from Sage 896 1,010 1,012 973 922 979 1,010 1,019 1,311 1,271 1,093 1,069 12,565

Sage difference 143 112 96 158 129 208 189 76 -75 -145 160 182 1,233
ecked out by non-Sage 20 31 14 12 21 16 24 44 43 43 23 10 301
orrowed from non-Sage 8 15 7 5 1 0 5 5 2 2 7 4 61

Non-Sage difference 12 16 7 7 20 16 19 39 41 41 16 6 240

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 19



Computer use, 2016-17

Computer sessions
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Hood River 1300 1083 783 758 656 501 479 895 996 1290 510 683 9,934
Cascade Locks 98 153 79 80 58 62 33 42 66 76 87 76 910

Parkdale 79 97 72 33 18 15 11 7 16 21 35 28 432
TOTAL 1,477 1,333 934 871 732 578 523 944 1,078 1,387 632 787 11,276

We assume that some people do 
not sign up for their computers 
sessions. Here are the multipliers 
for each location:
HR adult: 1.4
HR kids: 3
CL and PK: 1.1

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 20



Electronic resource use, 2016-17

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Ancestry N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 59 35 0 525 99 718

Auto Repair Ref Ctr 14 11 13 12 11 41 63 39 34 33 10 10 291

Facebook
Posts 23 23 9 15 16 31 31 22 27 26 14 20 257

Post reach 9,001 2,656 2,717 3,430 838 7,666 6,361 6,330 2,470 3,361 3,074 4,528 52,432

Post engagement 816 163 53 112 31 1,354 641 385 376 413 253 100 4,697

Total likes 1,189 1,239 1,245 1,249 1,252 1,271 1,287 1,301 1,324 1,336 1,342 1,355 1,200

Gale databases
In library sess. 83 1 78 5 43 38 119 236 35 0 4 2 644

Remote sess. 7 9 4 3 15 3 5 4 7 42 158 11 268

Full text 60 3 4 2 15 0 11 39 13 10 40 27 224

hoodriverlibrary.org
Visits N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0

Unique visitors N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Pageviews N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0

Instagram
Posts 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 2 3 1 18

Post feedback 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 17 40 53 12 144

Followers 201 245 255 258 262 265 268 271 279 291 301 311 3,207

LearningExpress
Registrations 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 7 0 13

Session 3 1 8 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 12 0 29

Library2go
ebooks 346 392 343 336 366 483 436 369 460 360 400 350 4,641

Audiobooks 344 341 352 346 339 352 382 352 393 382 398 393 4,374

Newsletter
Subscribers N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 737 728 745 745 745 680

Messages sent 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 0 1 7

Opened 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 44.0% 38.0% 35.0% 0.0% 39.0% 13.0%

Click rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.8% 1.0% 1.0% 0.0% 4.1% 0.7%

Pronunciator
Registrations 10 15 2 21 10 1 0 10 14 3 9 0 95

Logins 28 42 20 33 24 9 30 18 25 10 16 3 258

TumbleBooks 80 20 4,097 5,930 1,100 286 302 1,771 963 637 496 75 15,757

TwitterVII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 21



Tweets 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 10

Impressions 1,547 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 586 419 2,552

Mentions 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 4

Total followers 489 517 519 526 530 539 548 550 554 566 565 574 501

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 22



Patron statistics, 2016-17

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD
Used card in last month 2,193 2,206 2,029 2,071 1,933 1,766 1,848 2,000 2,193 2,009 1,941 2,154 6,501
New patrons 114 81 85 85 65 44 83 100 100 64 67 121 1,009

Hood River 76 81 85 85 65 44 67 62 73 42 53 82 815

Cascade Locks 7 4 6 5 1 3 1 6 2 5 2 8 50

Odell 2 0 1 1 2 3 2 5 0 1 0 1 18

Parkdale 9 14 8 20 6 9 4 5 12 1 4 11 103

MIX libraries 14 8 5 14 16 10 9 21 12 12 8 17 146

Sage libraries 6 5 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 17

Passport librarie 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Other 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 6

Metropolitan Interlibrary eXchange (MIX) statistics, 2016-17

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD
Circulation First circs 605 831 548 776 484 431 434 498 458 460 551 600 6,676

Camas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clackamas Co. 23 14 22 17 14 5 13 15 25 6 11 19 184

Fort Vancouver 546 753 471 468 437 370 392 380 328 374 440 458 5,417

Multnomah Co. 7 41 55 41 18 52 28 102 92 72 93 103 704

Washington Co. 29 23 0 0 15 4 1 1 13 8 7 20 121
Renewals 242 246 288 250 210 236 235 290 245 262 253 274 3,031
Camas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clackamas Co. 1 1 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 1 1 8

Fort Vancouver 220 229 249 210 184 220 191 201 187 172 216 237 2516

Multnomah Co. 21 15 32 40 23 16 42 88 57 86 35 34 489

Washington Co. 0 1 7 0 3 0 0 0 0 4 1 2 18
TOTALS 847 1077 836 1026 694 667 669 788 703 722 804 874 9707

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 23



Program statistics, 2016-17

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD
Adult programs

Number 11 13 11 17 7 5 7 3 7 14 11 16 122

Attendees 1,007 1,117 760 98 344 79 141 245 268 915 348 2,518 7,840

Kids programs
Number 27 20 26 47 25 27 15 16 35 38 28 31 335

Attendees 4,370 3,995 2,528 4,190 2,238 2,696 623 1,130 3,178 2,888 2,120 2,730 32,686

Teen programs
Number 2 2 5 4 1 7 2 3 7 4 8 4 49

Attendees 31 37 361 69 11 75 19 20 41 15 1,148 364 2,191

TOTAL
Number 40 35 42 68 33 39 24 22 49 56 47 51 506

Attendees 5,408 5,149 3,649 4,357 2,593 2,850 783 1,395 3,487 3,818 3,616 5,612 42,717

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2016-17 24



Interlibrary loans, 2017-18

Hood River
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 1,130 1,037 2,167
Borrowed from Sage 1,001 1,191 2,192

Sage difference 129 -154 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -25

Cascade Locks
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 15 15 30
Borrowed from Sage 22 15 37

Sage difference -7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -7

Parkdale
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 6 6 12
Borrowed from Sage 23 31 54

Sage difference -17 -25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -42

Districtwide
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Checked out by Sage 1,151 1,058 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,209
Borrowed from Sage 1,046 1,237 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,283

Sage difference 105 -179 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -74
hecked out by non-Sage 23 1 24
orrowed from non-Sage 4 3 7

Non-Sage difference 19 -2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2017-18 25



Computer use, 2017-18

Computer sessions
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Hood River 663 934 1,597
Cascade Locks 77 107 184

Parkdale 16 10 26
TOTAL 756 1,051 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,807

We assume that some people do 
not sign up for their computers 
sessions. Here are the multipliers 
for each location:
HR adult: 1.4
HR kids: 3
CL and PK: 1.1

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2017-18 26



Electronic resource use, 2017-18

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD

Ancestry 150 155 305

Auto Repair Ref Ctr 25 15 40

Facebook
Posts 22 19 41

Post reach 10,149 5,149 15,298

Post engagement 832 328 1,160

Total likes 1,364 1,405 0

Gale databases
In library sess. 0 1 1

Remote sess. 44 6 50

Full text 9 6 15

Searches 136 13

hoodriverlibrary.org
Visits N/A N/A 0

Unique visitors N/A N/A N/A

Pageviews N/A N/A 0

Instagram
Posts 2 7 9

Post feedback 25 89 114

Followers 316 326 642

LearningExpress
Registrations 0 3 3

Session 0 1 1

Library2go
ebooks 412 482 894

Audiobooks 401 492 893

Newsletter
Subscribers 746 746

Messages sent 0 1 1

Opened 0.0% 33.0% 33.0%

Click rate 0.0% 8.0% 8.0%

Pronunciator
Registrations 4 7 11

Logins 13 11 24

TumbleBooks 2 16 18VII.iv.b. Statistics 2017-18 27



Twitter
Tweets 0 0 0

Impressions 327 254 581

Mentions 0 3 3

Total followers 583 583 501

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2017-18 28



Patron statistics, 2017-18

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD
Used card in last month 2,156 2,280 4,436
New patrons 36 69 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 105

Hood River 26 69 95

Cascade Locks 3 3 6

Odell 0 1 1

Parkdale 3 6 9

MIX libraries 3 2 5

Sage libraries 0 8 8

Passport librarie 0 0 0

Other 1 6 7

Metropolitan Interlibrary eXchange (MIX) statistics, 2017-18

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD
Circulation First circs 163 530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 693

Camas 0 0 0

Clackamas Co. 0 0 0

Fort Vancouver 92 464 556

Multnomah Co. 71 62 133

Washington Co. 0 4 4
Renewals 135 271 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 406
Camas 0 0 0

Clackamas Co. 0 1 1

Fort Vancouver 99 224 323

Multnomah Co. 32 46 78

Washington Co. 4 0 4
TOTALS 298 801 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1099

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2017-18 29



Program statistics, 2017-18

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun YTD
Adult programs

Number 12 6 18

Attendees 564 99 663

Kids programs
Number 58 22 80

Attendees 3,416 733 4,149

Teen programs
Number 4 16 20

Attendees 28 54 82
TOTAL

Number 74 44 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 118

Attendees 4,008 886 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,894

VII.iv.b. Statistics 2017-18 30



Program statistics, May 2017

Event Cosponsor(s) Location Date Attendees
ADULT PROGRAMS

Embracing Courage Hood River May 3 3
Migrant Parent Meeting Presenting: Library services Odell May 3 120

ATOD Presenting: Dia de los Ninos Hood River May 3 20

Library Book Club Hood River May 4 8
Fish Tales Hood River May 5 6

Odell May 8, 18 75

In the Mist Hood River May 10 3
Kickstand Book Club Hood River May 13 5
Flamenco Performance Hood River May 20 83
Sr. Centers Hood River Various 25

Adult total 348

KIDS PROGRAMS
Cookies and Books Cascade Lock May 2 24

Outreach HR-Xing Hood River May 3 6

Preschool Story Time Hood River May 4 40

Infant Toddler Story Time Hood River May 4 35

PK Elementary Class Visits Parkdale May 5 43

Odell Bus Hood River May 6 31

CL Story Time Cascade Lock May 6 0

Rinconcito Outreach Hood River May 10 6

Preschool Story Time Hood River May 11 38

Infant Toddler Story Time Hood River May 11 22

Odell Bus Hood River May 13 16

CL Story Time Cascade Lock May 13 0

Outreach HR-Xing Hood River May 17 8

Combined Story Time (Magic Amy Show) Hood River May 18 65

Odell Bus Hood River May 20 2

CL Story Time Cascade Lock May 20 0

Rinconcito Outreach Hood River May 24 6

Odell Book Mobile/Library @ Zumba Mon's & 
Thurs's

Hood River Providence 
Hospital & St. Francis House

VII.iv.c. Program Statistics 2016-17 31



Preschool Story Time Hood River May 25 35

Infant Toddler Story Time Hood River May 25 18

Odell Bus Hood River May 27 0/0

CL Story Time Cascade Lock May 27 0

La Hora Infanil: Radio Show Radio Tierra The Gorge May 3,10,17 1500

Story Time Monday’s Mid-Valley Elementary School Odell May 15, 19 130

Story Time Tuesday's Learning Farm Preschool Hood River May 6, 23 95

Kids total 2,120

TEEN PROGRAMS
SAT Prep Party Hood River May 1 6

Teen Council Hood River May 6, 20 9

Interactive Fantastic Beasts and Where to find them Hood River May 13 8

SRP class visits at High School Hood River School District HRVHS May 23-24 785

SRP class visits at Middle School Hood River School District HRMS May 26 & 30 200

SRP class visits at Middle School Hood River School District Wy'East May 31 140

Teen total 1,148

VII.iv.c. Program Statistics 2016-17 32



Program statistics, June 2017

Event Cosponsor(s) Location Date Attendees
ADULT PROGRAMS

Book Club Hood River June 1 6

Odell June 5 40

Story Time Monday’s Odell June 5 130
Hiroya Hood River June 6 28

ATOD Hood River June 7 15
La Hora Infanil: Radio Show Radio Tierra The Gorge June 7,14,21,28 2000
VR Hood River June 8 3
Kickstand Hood River June 10 2
Hearts of Dulcimer Hood River June 13 17

Migrant Parent Meeting Presenting: Library services Odell June 15 120
Mercado del Valle Table set up and craft - Odell June 15 25
Sherry Dell Author Reading Hood River June 22 15
Story Time Tuesday's Learning Farm Preschool Hood River June 27 60
Senior Centers Hood River Various 57

Adult total 2,518
KIDS PROGRAMS
Combined Story Time Hood River June 1 55

Harry Potter Trivia Challenge Hood River June 21 45

Odell Bus Hood River June 3 0

CL Story Time Cascade Locks June 3 0

PK Elementary Outreach PK Elementary June 6 210

La Hora Infanil: Radio Show Radio Tierra The Gorge June 7,14,21,28 2000
Odell Bus Hood River June 10 0

CL Story Time Cascade Locks June 10 0

May St. Elementary class visits Hood River June 13 90

Odell Bus Hood River June 17 21

CL Story Time Cascade Locks June 17 0

Odell Book Mobile/Library @ Zumba Mon's & 
Thurs's

Hood River Providence 
Hospital & St. Francis House
Mid-Valley Elementary 
School

Presenting: Odell Movies in 
the Park 

VII.iv.c. Program Statistics 2016-17 33



PK SR Angel Ocasio PK Elementary June 21 22

CL Angel Ocasio Cascade Locks June 21 12

HR Angel Ocasio Hood River June 21 60

Preschool Story Time Hood River June 22 30

Infant Toddler Story Time Hood River June 22 21

Crafternoon Hood River June 22 16

Chess Club Hood River June 22 5

PK Lego Club Parkdale June 23 1

Actornoon Hood River June 23 5

Odell Bus Hood River June 24 21

CL Story Time Cascade Locks June 24 0

PK SR Curt Show Parkdale June 28 26

HR Curt Show Hood River June 28 90

Preschool Story Time Hood River June 29 30

Infant Toddler Story Time Hood River June 29 20

Crafternoon Hood River June 29 24

Chess Club Hood River June 29 9

Actornoon Hood River June 30 9

Kids total 2,730
TEEN PROGRAMS
Harry Potter Trivia Jana Hood River June 2 50

SRP Wy'East MS assembly Wy'East MS/HRVSD Wy'East June 16 300

Giant Jenga Hood River June 17 12

Solar Eclipse crafts Hood River June 28 2

Teen total 364

VII.iv.c. Program Statistics 2016-17 34



Program statistics, July 2017

Event Cosponsor(s) Location Date Attendees
ADULT PROGRAMS

Great Horned Owl Hood River July 5 15
Book Club Hood River July 6 12
Kickstand Hood River July 8 5

Odell  Movies in the Park Hood River July 17,24,31 140

Migrant Parent Meeting Odell July 25 300

Hood River County Fair: Library Booth Migrant Program Odell July 26,27,28 60
Death Cafe Hood River July 26 9
Bilingual Music Cascade Locks July 26 33
Senior Centers Various Various 22

Adult total 564
KIDS PROGRAMS
Odell Bus Hood River July 1 13

Tears of Joy Puppet Show PK Parkdale July 5 20

Tears of Joy Puppet Show HR Hood River July 5 100

Migrant Summer School Odell 1450

ATOD Hood River July 5 20

Mercado del Valle OSU Extension Odell July 6 50

Preschool Story Time Hood River July 6 27

Infant/Toddler Story Time Hood River July 6 25

Crafternoon Hood River July 6 25

Chess Club Hood River July 6 9

Actornoons Phoenix theater Hood River July 7 13

Odell Bus Hood River July 8 3

Lego Club Hood River July 11 8

PK Summer Reading show Parkdale July 12 50

Presented by HRCLD & Odell 
Prevention Coalition 

Presenting: Library services 
/Table Booth

Mid-Valley Elementary School 
(around 175 student read to each 
day)

July 
5,7,10,11,12,14,1
7,18,19,21,24,25,

26

Presenting: Odell Movies in the 
Park

VII.iv.d. Program Statistics 2017-18 35



Midvalley show Odell July 12 250

HR Show Zaniac Hood River July 12 140

Odell Summer Reading Performers Zaniac & BJ the Clown Odell June 12,19 400

Preschool Story Time Hood River July 13 38

Infant/Toddler Story Time Hood River July 13 25

Crafternoon Hood River July 13 40

Chess Club Hood River July 13 0

Trace Your Child activity Hood River July 13 3

Actornoons Phoenix theater Hood River July 14 14

Odell Bus Hood River July 15 8

Lego Club Hood River July 18 10

CL Clown Cascade Locks July 19 30

Midvalley show Odell July 19 300

HR Show Clown Hood River July 19 135

Preschool Story Time Hood River July 20 38

Infant/Toddler Story Time Hood River July 20 15

Crafternoon Hood River July 20 35

Chess Club Hood River July 20 6

Actornoons Phoenix theater Hood River July 21 17

Odell Bus Hood River July 22 8

Lego Club Hood River July 25 3

Preschool Story Time Hood River July 27 22

Infant/Toddler Story Time Hood River July 27 18

Crafternoon Hood River July 27 34

Actornoons Phoenix theater Hood River July 28 12

Odell Bus Hood River July 29 2

Kids Total 3,416
TEEN PROGRAMS
Teen Council Hood River July 1, 15 4

Fort Building Contest Hood River July 11 7

Tiny Terrariums Hood River July 20 17

Teen Total 28

VII.iv.d. Program Statistics 2017-18 36



Program statistics, August 2017

Event Cosponsor(s) Location Date Attendees
ADULT PROGRAMS

Book club Hood River August 3 4
Kickstand Hood River August 12 1
Bilingual Music Cascade Locks Various 25
Senior Centers Hood River Various (Checkouts 53) 36
Naughty Sweethearts Hood River August 9 33
Never Give Up Parkdale August 10 0

Adult total 99
KIDS PROGRAMS
Lego Club Hood River August 1 6

Rinconcito Hood River August 2 5

Combined Story Time Hood River August 3 63

Crafternoon Hood River August 3 28

Actornoon Hood River August 4 14

Odell Bus Hood River August 5 4

Rinconcito Hood River August 9 0

Infant Toddler Story Time Hood River August 10 28

Preschool Story Time Hood River August 10 35

Actornoon Hood River August 11 10

Odell Bus Hood River August 12 2

Rick Huddle in HR Hood River August 16 55

Combined Story Time Hood River August 17 38

Crafternoon Hood River August 17 20

Actornoon Hood River August 17 6

Rinconcito Field Trip Hood River August 23 3

Reptile Man CL Cascade Locks August 23 72

Reptile Man HR Hood River August 23 275

Infant Toddler Story Time Hood River August 24 18

Preschool Story Time Hood River August 24 20

Mid Valley Elementary, HR 
Prevention Department, HRC
Community Education

VII.iv.d. Program Statistics 2017-18 37



Crafternoon Hood River August 24 20

Actornoon Hood River August 25 11

Kids total 733
TEEN PROGRAMS
Gaming in Hood River Hood River Aug 1,8,15, 22,29 13

Gaming in Cascade Locks Cascade Locks Aug 3, 10, 17, 24 3

Teen Lock-in Hood River Aug 5 to 6 24

Teen Movie Night: Dr. Strange Hood River Aug 9 2

Teen Council Hood River Aug 15 1

Build a Better World: Chalk quotes Hood River Aug 25 3

Unity Picnic: teen volunteers Hood River Aug 26 4

Teen Movie Night: Jurassic Park Hood River Aug 30 4

Teen total 54
ALL AGES
Unity Picnic HR August 26 400

All ages total 400

VII.iv.d. Program Statistics 2017-18 38



2017-18 budget, p.1 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

FORM GENERAL FUND
LB-20 Resources Hood River County Library District

Historical Data

RESOURCES DESCRIPTION

Budget for Next Year 2017-18

Actual

1 578,384 597,340 740,247 575,000 Available cash on hand 515,000 515,000 515,000

2 15,243 23,619 10,992 20,000 Previously levied taxes estimated to be received 15,000 15,000 15,000

3 2,660 4,565 4,475 3,500 Interest 4,000 4,000 4,000

4 13,152 13,061 11,507 12,000 Fines and fees 12,000 12,000 12,000

5 325 - - Donations - - -

6 49,111 - - Intergovernmental revenue - - -

7 33 - 500 Miscellaneous revenue - - -

8

9 658,908 638,585 767,221 611,000 Total resources, except taxes to be levied 546,000 546,000 546,000

10 799,956 Taxes estimated to be received 834,953 834,953 834,953

11 759,419 788,107 786,455 Taxes collected in year levied

12 1,418,327 1,426,692 1,410,956 TOTAL RESOURCES 1,380,953 1,380,953 1,380,953

Adopted Budget
This Year
2016-17

Proposed By
Budget Officer

Approved By
Budget 

Committee

Adopted By
Governing Body

Second 
Preceding

Year 2014-15

First Preceding
Year 2015-16

YTD actuals
3/31/2017

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 39



2017-18 budget, p.2 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

FORM GENERAL FUND
LB-31 Detailed Requirements

Historical Data
Budget for Next Year 2017-18

Actual

Proposed by Approved by Adopted by

Budget Officer Budget Committee Governing Body

1 PERSONAL SERVICES

2 Salaries

3 6,414 4,979 4159 6,855 Library Clerk I 6,858 6,858 6,858

4 49,699 71,363 53972 81,515 Library Clerk II 88,353 88,353 88,353

5 79,239 81,946 37221 60,817 Library Assistant I 48,751 48,751 48,751

6 63,374 83,810 75108 111,443 Library Assistant II 89,302 89,302 89,302

7 63,875 30,751 34638 59,859 Librarian I 65,957 65,957 65,957

8 49,116 41,581 31632 55,141 Librarian II 52,998 52,998 52,998

9 65,110 76,065 48313 79,608 Library Director 70,658 70,658 70,658

10 376,827 390,495 285043 455,238 Total Salaries 422,877 422,877 422,877

11

12 Benefits

13 28,285 27,775 24717 36,160 Retirement 34,364 34,364 34,364

14 29,414 27,860 23919 34,826 FICA 32,350 32,350 32,350

15 246 1,122 1475 1,200 Workers' compensation insurance 1,500 1,072 1,072

16 62,383 66,258 52177 81,498 Health insurance 99,000 99,000 99,000

17 6,084 4,666 3836 5,918 Unemployment insurance 5,497 5,497 5,497

18 126,412 127,681 106124 159,602 Total benefits 172,711 172,283 172,283

19

20 503,239 518,176 391,167 614,840 TOTAL PERSONAL SERVICES 595,588 595,160 595,160

21 Total Full Time Equivalent (FTE)* 10.925 10.925 10.925

REQUIREMENTS FOR: 
Hood River County Library District

Adopted Budget
This Year
2016-17

Second Preceding 
Year 2014-15

First Preceding 
Year 2015-16

YTD Actuals 
3/31/17

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 40



2017-18 budget, p.3 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

22 MATERIALS AND SERVICES

23 223 193 217 250 Bank charges 250 250 250

24 3,700 3,700 3,200 12,400 Building rental 9,000 9,000 9,000

25 22,454 11,627 5,379 15,000 Building maintenance 15,000 15,000 15,000

26 11,691 8,715 8,000 HVAC 12,000 12,000 12,000

27 1,830 1,610 2,000 Elevator 2,000 2,000 2,000

28 10,496 - - Telecommunications - - -

29 4,819 2,873 4,500 Telephone 4,000 4,000 4,000

30 5,099 3,841 5,250 Internet 5,500 5,500 5,500

31 66,326 77,905 52,977 75,000 Collection development 55,000 55,000 55,000

32 6,102 4,911 5,327 20,000 Technology 10,000 10,000 10,000

33 12,260 29,300 12,878 23,000 Accounting and auditing 25,000 25,000 25,000

34 1,824 1,475 1,468 3,000 Courier 3,000 3,000 3,000

35 20,676 20,891 15,687 24,000 Custodial services 24,000 24,000 24,000

36 6,156 3,015 2,927 4,000 Technical services 4,000 4,000 4,000

37 10,500 11,340 11,567 12,000 Library consortium 12,000 12,000 12,000

38 989 976 1,022 1,100 Copiers 1,500 1,500 1,500

39 1,479 - 0 2,000 Elections - - -

40 3,722 3,167 1,512 5,000 Furniture and equipment 2,000 2,000 2,000

41 3,872 4,254 10,874 10,000 Property and liability insurance 11,500 11,500 11,500

42 11,306 16,472 23,583 21,000 Georgiana Smith Memorial Gardens 21,000 21,000 21,000

43 1,837 2,575 2,273 3,000 Legal Services 3,000 3,000 3,000

44 12,307 0 - Professional services - - -

45 3,687 3,323 2,124 4,000 Membership dues 4,000 4,000 4,000

46 876 451 3,595 1,000 Miscellaneous 1,000 1,000 1,000

47 820 685 645 1,000 Postage/freight 1,000 1,000 1,000

48 1,132 659 607 1,000 Printing 1,000 1,000 1,000

49 15,439 18,727 19,555 22,000 Programs 20,000 20,000 20,000

50 1,247 1,154 545 1,000 Advertising 1,000 1,000 1,000

51 17,170 13,477 12,216 16,000 Office supplies 15,000 15,000 15,000

52 5,087 5,759 4,298 5,000 Travel 5,000 5,000 5,000

53 1,194 1,546 877 1,750 Training 1,500 1,500 1,500

54 764 1,127 0 1,500 Board development 1,500 1,500 1,500

55 - - 0 1,000 Parking reimbursement 1,000 1,000 1,000

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 41



2017-18 budget, p.4 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

56 36,408 - - Utilities - - -

57 - 17,203 13,347 20,000 Electricity 20,000 20,000 20,000

58 - 1,387 1,073 1,500 Garbage 1,500 1,500 1,500

59 - 5,497 3,944 10,000 Natural gas 10,000 10,000 10,000

60 - 4,173 3,506 4,500 Water and sewer (building) 4,700 4,700 4,700

61

62 267,746 302,715 234,262 341,750 TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 307,950 307,950 307,950

63

64 50,000 50,000 0 40,000 TRANSFER TO CAPITAL RESERVE 28,000 28,000 28,000

65

66 - - 0 100,000 CONTINGENCY 100,000 100,000 100,000

67

68 820,985 870,891 625,429 1,096,590 Total expenditures 1,031,538 1,031,110 1,031,110

69

70 - 3,499 12,500 Vacation Reserve 13,400 13,400 13,400

71 597,340 555,801 Ending Balance (Prior Years)

72 301,866 UNAPPROPRIATED ENDING FUND BALANCE 336,015 336,443 336,443

73 1,418,325 1,426,692 1,410,956 TOTAL REQUIREMENTS 1,380,953 1,380,953 1,380,953

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 42



2017-18 budget, p.5 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

FORM CAPITAL EQUIPMENT RESERVE FUND
LB-11 Resources and Requirements

Fund review year: 2021

Hood River County Library District

Historical Data

REQUIREMENTS DESCRIPTION
Budget for Next Year 2017-18

Actual
Proposed by Approved by Adopted by

Budget Officer Budget Committee Governing Body

1 RESOURCES
2 57,573 97,830 103,636 80,000 Cash on hand 100,000 100,000 100,000
3 352 654 524 400 Interest 400 400 400
4 50,000 50,000 - 40,000 Transfer from General Fund 28,000 28,000 28,000
5

6 107,925 148,484 104,160 120,400 TOTAL RESOURCES 128,400 128,400 128,400
7

8 REQUIREMENTS
9 10,095 44,848 41,445 75,000 Capital outlay 60,000 60,000 60,000

10
11 97,830 103,636 Ending balance (prior years)
12 45,400 RESERVED FOR FUTURE EXPENDITURE 68,400 68,400 68,400

13 107,925 148,484 120,400 TOTAL REQUIREMENTS 128,400 128,400 128,400

This fund is authorized and established by Resolution No. 2013-14.008 on May 20, 
2014, for the following specified purposes: capital outlay for land acquisition, 
building construction/improvements, installation
and repair of major building systems, and depreciable equipment.

Adopted Budget
This Year
2016-17

Second Preceding
Year 2014-15

First Preceding
Year 2015-16

YTD
3/31/2017

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 43



2017-18 budget, p.6 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

FORM SPECIAL FUND
LB-10 Resources and Requirements Hood River County Library District

GRANTS FUND
Historical Data

REQUIREMENTS DESCRIPTION
Budget for Next Year 2017-18

Actual

Proposed by Approved by Adopted by

Budget Officer Budget Committee Governing Body

1 RESOURCES

2 12,869 62,010 88,140 43,500 Cash on hand 45,000 45,000 45,000

3 28,946 33,062 7,223 150,000 Grants (specific purposes) 150,000 150,000 150,000

4 10,865 17,674 1,950 10,000 Friends of the Library donations 15,000 15,000 15,000

5 70,000 60,045 1,957 50,000 Library Foundation donations 60,000 60,000 60,000

6 - - - 1,000 Pat Hazelhurst Fund donations 1,000 1,000 1,000

7

8 122,680 172,791 99,270 254,500 TOTAL RESOURCES 271,000 271,000 271,000
9

10 REQUIREMENTS

11 Personal services

12 Salaries - - -

13 12,210 69 - Library Assistant II - - -

14

15 1,099 Benefits

16 930 - Retirement - - -

17 3,408 - Health insurance - - -

18

19 204 - Other personal services - - -

20

21 24,997 17,851 69 - Total personal services - - -

22

23 Materials and services

24 18,802 12,479 7,542 20,000 Collection development 30,000 30,000 30,000

25 6,913 - - 2,000 Technology 5,000 5,000 5,000

26 7,330 11,214 3,941 15,000 Programs 15,000 15,000 15,000

27 1,294 4,684 5,199 15,000 Furniture and equipment 50,000 50,000 50,000

28 1,334 12,964 9,897 27,500 Other materials and services 25,000 25,000 25,000

29

30 35,673 41,341 26,579 79,500 Total materials and services 125,000 125,000 125,000

Adopted Budget
This Year
2016-17

Second Preceding
Year 2014-15

First Preceding 
Year 2015-16

YTD
3/31/2017

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 44



2017-18 budget, p.7 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

31

32 - 25,459 13,220 175,000 Capital outlay 146,000 146,000 146,000

33

34 62,010 88,140 Ending balance (prior years)

35 - UNAPPROPRIATED ENDING FUND BALANCE - - -

36 122,680 172,791 254,500 TOTAL REQUIREMENTS 271,000 271,000 271,000

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 45



2017-18 budget, p.8 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

FORM SAGE LIBRARY SYSTEM FUND
LB-10 Resources and Requirements Hood River County Library District

Historical Data

REQUIREMENTS DESCRIPTION
Budget for Next Year 2017-18

Actual

Proposed by Approved by Adopted by

Budget Officer Budget Committee Governing Body

1 RESOURCES

2 - - - - Cash on hand 0 0 0 

3 - 56,839 38,400 68,698 Intergovernmental revenue 0 0 0 

4

5 - 56,839 38,400 68,698 TOTAL RESOURCES 0 0 0 
6

7 REQUIREMENTS

8 Personal Services

9 Salaries

10 - 39,876 29,193 43,534 Librarian I 0 0 0 

11

12 Benefits

13 - 3,885 2,884 3,918 Retirement 0 0 0 

14 - 3,028 2,211 3,330 FICA 0 0 0 

15 - 102 24 50 Workers' compensation insurance 0 0 0 

16 - 4,958 3,331 6,000 Health insurance 0 0 0 

17 - 513 318 566 Unemployment insurance 0 0 0 

18

19 - 52,362 37,961 57,398 Total personal services 0 0 0 

20

21 Materials and services

22 - - - 300 Membership dues 0 0 0 

23 - 599 128 3,000 Travel 0 0 0 

24 - - - 1,000 Training 0 0 0 

25 - - - 2,000 Other materials and services 0 0 0 

26

27 - 599 128 6,300 Total materials and services 0 0 0 

28

29 - - - 5,000 Contingency 0 0 0 

30

Adopted Budget
This Year
2016-17

Second 
Preceding

Year 2014-15

First Preceding 
Year 2015-16

YTD
2/28/2017

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 46



2017-18 budget, p.9 09/15/2017, 10:50:22

31 - 599 Ending balance (prior years)

32 - UNAPPROPRIATED ENDING FUND BALANCE 0 0 0 

33 - 52,961 68,698 TOTAL REQUIREMENTS 0 0 0 

IX.i. Approved Budget 2017-18 47



IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 48



IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 49



Building Ident ity:

Who We Are,

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 50



Building Identity

■

■

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 51



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

To p Ten  Bes t  Pr ac t i c es  f o r   
Mun i c i pa l  I D Ca r d  Pr o g r a ms

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 52



Building Identity

■

■ inclusive

■ protective

■ expansive

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 53



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

Several jurisdictions 
have written special 
accommodations 
for homeless 
and transgender 
applicants into their 
municipal ID bills.

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 54



Building Identity

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 55



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 56



Building Identity

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 57



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 58



Building Identity

“  Everywhere you go 
you need an ID. I get 
rejected a lot, even at the 
hospital. I went in for an 
emergency and I didn’t 
have an ID to show.” 

—Carmen Barbosa,  
Mercer County ID card holder

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 59



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

not

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 60



Building Identity

“  For our community to feel 
safe, it was important that 
the city of San Francisco 
protect the privacy of 
all municipal ID card 
applicants. The city does 
not store keep copies 
of anyone’s underlying 
application materials, 
and the program has run 
smoothly without any 
document retention.” 

—Eric Mar,  
San Francisco Board of Supervisors

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 61



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 62



Building Identity

■

■

■

■

■

“  IDNYC unites New 
Yorkers under one 
banner. The card allows 
New Yorkers to come 
out of the shadows, 
especially undocumented 
immigrants who could 
not even open up a bank 
account previously.” 

—José Peralta,  
New York State Senator

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 63



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 64



Building Identity

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 65



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 66



Building Identity

■

■

■

■

■

The transgender 
community in San 
Francisco participated 
in the advocacy for 
municipal ID program 
there, and thanks to 
their work the San 
Francisco ID card also 
does not display the 
cardholder’s gender.

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 67



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

■

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 68



Building Identity

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 69



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

“ The prepaid card industry 
is coming under increased 
scrutiny by regulators and 
enforcement agencies, 
given the poor consumer 
protections and host of 
security issues associated 
with prepaid debit cards, 
which are particularly 
vulnerable to fraud.”

— New Economy Project

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 70



Building Identity

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

“ Allowing Municipal ID 
holders access to some 
of the city’s top cultural 
institutions will enrich the 
lives of these residents 
and in doing so enrich 
the city’s immigrant and 
native-born communities.” 

—Juan Hernandez,  
District Leader of 32BJ of  

the Service Employees 
International Union

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 71



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 72



Building Identity

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 73



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

Who We Are: Municipal ID Cards as a Local Strategy 

to Promote Belonging and Shared Community 

Identity.

Newark ID cards bring immigrants out of the 

shadows. New Jersey Star Ledger,

 Hartford Municipal ID Program to Begin in 

September.

Cities sign on to community ID; details come into 

focus. 

Phoenix to study feasibility of city ID cards.

Charlotte city ID plan undaunted by state opposition.

Documenting the Undocumented. 

 Citizens Without Proof: A Survey of Americans’ 

Possession of Documentary Proof of Citizenship 

and Photo Identi cation.

Eight 

Reasons why NYC Should Not Add a Prepaid Debit 

Function to Its Forthcoming Municipal ID Program.

Unlawfully Present Aliens, Driver’s Licenses, and 

Other State-Issued ID: Select Legal Issues,

 Langfeld v. City of San Francisco,

 Lawsuit Over Immigrant License Data,

Courage in Elm City.

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 74



Building Identity

 City may keep names of ID-card holders 

private, FOIC rules. 

Two Instances of Possible Fraud 

Among 100K Applications in NYC ID Program.

New Haven Marks Fifth Anniversary of Elm City 

Resident Card, City of New Haven, Connecticut,

How Oakland fouled up ID card plan.

Oakland’s Debit-ID Cards That Aim to Help 

Unbanked, Immigrants Catching On,

Eight Reasons why NYC Should Not Add a Prepaid 

Debit Function to Its Forthcoming Municipal ID 

Program.

 Immigrant Identi cation Card: New York City Adds 

$5 Million For Staf ng In ID Application Rush. 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 75



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 76



Building Identity

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 77



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 78



Building Identity

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 79



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

LOS ANGELES, CA

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 80



Building Identity

LOS ANGELES, CA continued

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 81



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

OAKLAND, CA  

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 82



Building Identity

OAKLAND, CA continued

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 83



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

Page 1 of 9

ORDINANCE NO. 16-11 N.S.

ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2.64, ARTICLE II, OF THE RICHMOND
MUNICIPAL CODE AUTHORIZING A MUNICIPAL IDENTIFICATION PROGRAM TO
PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF MUNICIPAL IDENTIFICATION CARDS TO
RESIDENTS OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND FOR THE PURPOSES OF IMPROVING
PUBLIC SAFETY, INCREASING CIVIC PARTICIPATION, AND SUPPORTING LOCAL
COMMERCE

WHEREAS, many Richmond residents – including but not limited to immigrants,
children and students, thehomeless, transgender, the indigent, thedisabled and elderly, runaway
youth and adult survivors of domestic violence, and others– currently suffer from the lack of
official identification, which restricts their access to law enforcement, financial institutions, jobs,
housing, and home and workplaceprotections; and

WHEREAS, many marginalized communities lack avalid form of identification and

without identification are afraid to report crimes to thepolice: and

WHEREAS, thosewho lack avalid form of identification arealso often afraid to report

labor and housing violations – such as blighted properties, slum landlords, and workplacehealth,

safety, and wageviolations – to theappropriateauthorities; and

WHEREAS, without appropriate identification, it is difficult to open bank accounts, and

immigrantscarrying large amountsof cash are thereforespecifically targeted for robbery and

other violent crimes; and

WHEREAS, lack of a valid form of identification translates into limited access to

financial institutionsand fear of policeand other city officials, thus resulting in decreased

participation in the formal city economy and other civic matters; and

WHEREAS, aRichmond Municipal Identification Card will make it easier for all

residents to participate in local and regional commerce– by opening a bank account, establishing

credit, and accessing loans and thehousing market; and

WHEREAS, theRichmond Municipal Identification Card will fill avoid by providing an

official form of personal identification for the many Richmond residents who currently lack one;

and

WHEREAS, theMunicipal Identification Card will unify theRichmond community,

make it safer and moresecure, benefit the local economy, and facilitate participation in public

and private City activities; and

WHEREAS, theCities of New Haven, Connecticut and San Francisco, Californiahave

implemented such municipal ID programs and have reported an increase in reporting of crimes in

those cities; and

WHEREAS, theCity of Oakland, California approved aMunicipal Identification Card

program in November 2010 and hasselected avendor to implement it; and

WHEREAS, theRichmond Municipal ID Card will beunique to theCity of Richmond

and will be produced with the highest privacy and security measuresbuilt in to protect thepublic

safety and against counterfeit reproduction; and

WHEREAS, theCity wishes to takeappropriate measures– including but not limited to

implementing meaningful benefitsand uses for the Richmond Municipal Identification Card and

developing substantial partnerships for its implementation – to ensure that thecard is widely

Page 2 of 9

used and thereby of thegreatest benefit to its residentsand theaforementioned marginalized

populations; and

WHEREAS, theCity wishes to createa reliable form of identification for all its residents;

and

WHEREAS, theCity wishes to administer itsMunicipal Identification Card program at

no net cost to theCity; and

WHEREAS, theCity desiresand anticipates that theMunicipal Identification Card

program will beoperated by aThird Party Administrator selected through an expedited Request

for Qualifications (RFQ) issued by theCity Manager, in compliancewith the requirementsset

forth in Section 5 of thisOrdinance; and

WHEREAS, theCity Council wishes to emphasize that vendors responding to theRFQ –

like thosewho respond to any RFQ – areeligible for any applicablebid discountsor bonuses

availableunder Richmond’sBusinessOpportunity Ordinance, Richmond Municipal Code

Chapter 2.50; and

WHEREAS, theCity Council hasconsidered theapplication of theCalifornia

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) to the implementation and administration of theMunicipal

ID Card Ordinanceset forth below;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that in compliancewith theCEQA, the

Council of theCity of Richmond finds that theapproval of Chapter 2.64 described below isnot a

project and is thereforeexempt from CEQA; and be it

FURTHER RESOLVED THAT thecouncil of thecity of Richmond doesordain as

follows:

Section 1. That theCity Council findsand determines the foregoing recitals to be trueand

correct and hereby makes them part of thisOrdinance.

Section 2. That thefollowing provisionsarehereby added to Chapter 2.64 of Title II,

Administration and City Government, of theRichmond Municipal Code, to read as follows:

2.64.010 Municipal Identification Cards– Definitions

For purposesof Sections2.64.010 through 2.64.090, the following definitionsshall

apply.

“City” shall mean theCity of Richmond, or any department, board, commission

or agency thereof.

“Municipal Identification Card” shall mean an identification card issued by the

City of Richmond that shall display, including but not limited to, thecardholder’s

name, photograph, address, dateof birth, and an expiration date.

“Program Administrator” shall mean theCity Manager or such other City

Department or Agency that theCity Manager may designate, who shall be

responsible for coordinating with theThird Party Administrator selected to

implement and administer theMunicipal Identification Card program.

“Resident” shall mean aperson who can demonstrate that heor shehasbeen

present in theCity of Richmond for at least fifteen continuousdaysand who

presents “proof of residency” asspecified in Section 2.64.030 (A) (2)

“Third Party Administrator” shall mean thevendor selected through an expedited

Request for Qualifications (“RFQ”) issued by theCity Manager to implement and

RICHMOND, VA

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 84



Building Identity

Page 3 of 9

administer theMunicipal Identification Card program at no net cost to theCity, its

divisions, subdivisions, or agencies.

2.64.020 Issuanceand Purposeof Municipal Identification Cards

A. Upon request, theProgram Administrator shall issueaMunicipal Identification

Card to any Resident who meets theapplication requirementsset forth below in

Section 2.64.030 and pays theapplicable fee. TheCard shall bear theseal of the

City, and theProgram Administrator shall cause theCard to beproduced in a

form intended to thwart replication or counterfeiting. Cardsshall bevalid for a

maximum of two years from thedateof issuanceas long as residence in theCity

is maintained during that time. Card holdersshall surrender their Municipal

Identification Card upon moving residenceout of theCity of Richmond.

B. It is theCity’s intent that Municipal Identification Cardswill provide residents

with ameansof proving their residency in theCity of Richmond, for thepurpose

of accessing City programs, servicesand activities, aswell ashelping to

substantiate their identity to law enforcement personnel..

2.64.030 Applications

A. To obtain aMunicipal Identification Card, aResident shall completean

application, under penalty of perjury, requiring proof of identity and proof of

residencewithin theCity. Upon receipt of both theproof of identity and

residency that thisSection specifies, and of theapplicable fee, theProgram

Administrator or hisor her designeeshall issueaCard to theapplicant.

1. Proof of Identity. To establish identity, each applicant must present

either:

a. Oneof thefollowing documentscontaining both theapplicant’s

photograph and dateof birth: aU.S. or foreign passport; adriver

license issued by any stateor territory of theUnited States; astate

identification card issued by any stateor territory of theUnited

States; aU.S. Permanent Resident Card (commonly known as

“Green Card” ); aconsular identification (“CID,” in someinstances

referred to asa “MatriculaConsular” ) card; or aphoto

identification card issued by another country to itscitizensor

nationals that meets thefollowing requirements:

i. The issuing country authorizes theuseof thecard asan

alternative to apassport for re-entry into the issuing

country; and

ii. Thecard has aphotograph of theperson and theperson's

dateof birth; and

iii. Thecard meetsstandards established by theProgram

Administrator to ensure that (1) theapplicant was required

to provide reliable identifying information in order to

obtain thecard and (2) thecard has features reasonably

designed to protect against fraud and counterfeit

reproduction.

In determining whether the identification meets these

requirements, theProgram Administrator or his or her designee

Page 4 of 9

may usestandardsadopted by theNational Notary Association or

theCaliforniaAssociation of Notaries for thispurpose.

Notwithstanding theabove, if theapplicant is thirteen years of ageor

younger, heor shemay present acertified copy of aU.S. or foreign birth

certificate to establish identity under thissubsection; or

b. Two of the following documents, provided that at least one form of

identification shall display theapplicant’sphotograph and dateof

birth: anational identification card with photo, nameaddress, date

of birth, and expiration date; a foreign driver’s license; aU.S. or

foreign military identification card; acurrent visa issued by a

government agency; aU.S. Individual Taxpayer Identification

Number (ITIN) authorization letter; an identification card issued

by aCaliforniaeducational institution, including elementary,

middle, secondary, and post secondary schools; acertified copy of

aU.S. or foreign birth certificate; acourt order issued by astateor

federal court to verify aperson’s identity; or aSocial Security card.

Notwithstanding theabove, where theapplicant isage thirteen or

under, heor shemay present an official medical record and/or

official school record to establish identity under thissubsection,

provided that at least oneof the two formsof identification

presented shall display theapplicant’sdateof birth.

2. Proof of Residence

a. To establish residency, each applicant must present oneof the

following items, provided that the item includesboth the

applicant’snameand aresidential address located within theCity;

autility bill dated within the last thirty days; awritten verification

confirming at least fifteen days residency within the last thirty days

issued by ahomelessshelter that: (a) isoperated by theStateor

County, (b) holdsabusiness licensewith theCity of Richmond, or

(c) meetscriteriaestablished by theCity Manager by regulation;;

written verification issued by ahospital health clinic, or social

servicesagency that: (a) isoperated by theStateor County, (b)

holdsabusiness licensewith theCity of Richmond, or (c) meets

criteriaestablished by theCity Manager by regulation;; a local

property tax statement or mortgagepayment receipt dated within

the last thirty days; proof of aminor currently enrolled in aschool

in theCity of Richmond; an employment pay stub dated within the

last thirty days; a jury summonsor court order issued by astateor

federal court dated within the last thirty days; a federal or state

income tax or refund statement dated within the last thirty days; or

an insurancebill (homeowner’s, renter’s, health, lifeor automobile

insurance) dated within the last thirty days. If acertified copy of a

marriagecertificate ispresented at the timeof application, and

applicant may prove residency using documentsbearing thename

of hisor her spouse.

b. TheProgram Administrator may by regulation provide that if an

applicant is thirteen yearsof ageor younger, cannot produceany of

the itemsset forth in thisSubsection (A) (2) to prove residency, a

parent or legal guardian may verify theapplicant’ s residency,

RICHMOND, VA continued

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 85



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

RICHMOND, VA continued

Page 5 of 9

provided that theparent or guardian would beeligible for a

Municipal identification Card.

3. TheProgram Administrator may by regulation providefor acceptanceof

additional form of proof of identity and/or proof of residency, provided

that theProgram Administrator determines that such formsof proof are:

a. issued by agovernment entity, or

b. issued by an entity that takes reasonablesteps to verify the identity

and/or residency of the individual to whom the item is issued; or

c. of a type that isnormally accepted asproof of identity and/or proof

of residency in theordinary courseof business.

B. An application submitted on behalf of aminor must becompleted by theminor’s

parent or legal guardian.

C. TheCity shall keep confidential to themaximum extent permitted by applicable

laws, thenameand other identifying information of personsapplying for and

receiving Municipal Identification Cards. TheCity shall cause theapplications to

beproduced in a form that allowsapplicants to state their privacy preferences.

TheCity shall not retain recordsof applicants’ residential addresses.

2.64.040 Implementation

TheProgram Administrator or hisor her designee isauthorized to adopt rulesand

regulationsnot inconsistent with thisSection, subject to approval as to form and legality

by theCity Attorney, in order to implement and administer the issuanceof Municipal

Identification Cards. These regulationsshall specifically includeaprocess for waiving

the feeset forth in Section 2.64.050, upon proof of indigence.

2.64.050 Fees

A feeshall becharged for each Municipal Identification Card issued. TheCity Council

shall set themaximum amount that may becharged per card by resolution.

2.64.060 Acceptanceby City Departments

A. When requiring membersof thepublic to provide identification or proof of

residency in theCity, each City department shall accept aMunicipal Identification

Card asavalid identification and asvalid proof of residency in theCity, unless

such City department has reasonablegrounds for determining that thecard is

counterfeit, altered, or improperly issued to thecard holder, or that the individual

presenting thecard isnot the individual to whom it was issued. In addition the

Municipal Identification Card, , theCity of Richmond PoliceDepartment may use

other formsof identification and processesasnecessary to substantiate the

identification of aperson.

B. Other than requiring theCity to accept theCard asproof of identification and City

residency, thisSection isnot intended to replaceany other existing requirements

for issuanceof other formsof identification in connection with theadministration

of City benefitsand services. The requirementsof thisSection do not apply under

circumstanceswhere (1) aFederal or Statestatuteor administration regulation or

directive, or court decision requires theCity to obtain different identification or

proof of residence, (2) aFederal or Statestatuteor administrative regulation or

directivepreempts local regulation of identification or residency requirements, or

(3) theCity would beunable to comply with acondition imposed by afunding

Page 6 of 9

source, which would cause theCity to losefunds from that source. A Municipal

Identification Card may not beused in placeof the identification required by

Richmond Municipal CodeChapters 7.68 (Taxicabs) or 7.102 (Medical

MarijuanaCollectives).

2.64.070 Card Holders’ Responsibilities

A card holder must notify theProgram Administrator within 14 calendar daysof any

change in addresswithin theCity of Richmond. Upon receipt of notification, the

Program Administrator shall issueanoticeof new address to becarried with the

Municipal Identification Card.

If acard holder no longer intends to residewithin theCity of Richmond, or expects to

resideoutside theCity for aperiod of more than 90 consecutivedays, thecard holder

must relinquish the identification card, by mailing thecard to theProgram Administrator

with an acknowledgement of intent to resideelsewhere.

2.64.080 City Undertaking L imited to Promotion of General Welfare

In undertaking the adoption and enforcement of thisordinance, theCity isassuming an

undertaking only to promote thegeneral welfare. TheCity doesnot assume, nor does it

imposeon itsofficersand employees, any obligation for which theCity or any of its

officersor employeescould be found liable in theevent of breach of that obligation to

any person who claims that such breach proximately caused injury.

2.64.090 Counterfeit and Fraudulent Cards

It isamisdemeanor violation of thisCode, asspecified in Chapter 1.04, for any person or

entity to do any of the following acts:

A. To knowingly present false information to theCity in thecourseof applying for a

Municipal Identification Card;

B. To alter, copy, or replicateaMunicipal Identification Card without theauthority of

theCity; or

C. To use theMunicipal Identification Card issued to another person, with the intent to

causeathird person or entity to believetheholder of thecard is theperson to whom

thecard was issued.

Section 3 Severability

If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clauseor phraseof this

Ordinance is for any reason held to beunconstitutional or invalid, such adecision shall

not affect thevalidity of theremaining portionsof thisordinance. TheCity Council

hereby declares that it would havepassed each section, subsection, subdivision,

paragraph, sentence, clauseor phraseof thisordinance irrespectiveof the

unconstitutionality or invalidity of any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph,

sentence, clauseor phrase.

Section 4 Third Party Administrator Selection

TheRichmond City Council directs theCity Manager or his or her designeeto issuean

expedited RFQ for thedevelopment of aRichmond Municipal Identification program no

later than 90 daysof thepassageof thisOrdinance, with thecaveat that theprogram be

fully cost-covered to thegreatest extent possiblewith no subsidy from theCity, even if it

means that theCity out-sourcesall aspectsof theprogram to aThird Party Administrator.

TheCity Manager shall makeall reasonableefforts to issuetheRFQ before the90 day

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 86



Building Identity

RICHMOND, VA continued

Page 7 of 9

deadline. TheRFQ shall include, but need not be limited to, the following mandatory

requirementsand criteria:

A. That theMunicipal Identification Card includeamagnetic stripeon theobverse

that will allow storageof information for thepurposesof:

1. Verifying that the information printed on thefaceof thecard relating to the

user’s full legal name, dateof birth, residential address, photo, Identification

number, expiration date, and theuser’ssignaturecoincideswith the

information provided at thetimeof registration.

2. Allowing useof thecards, at theapplicant’soption, as astandard pre-paid

debit card.

3. Allowing useof thecard, at theapplicant’ soption, for storageof theuser’s

medical history and information relating to special medical treatment

requirements, if theThird Party Administrator can demonstrate to the

satisfaction of theCity Manager or hisor her designee that such information

can bestored in amanner that is secureand not-discoverableby personsother

than first responders, medical careproviders, and other individualsor entities

entitled to receiveconfidential medical information.

B. That all information about theresident required by theapplication (including, but

not limited to theapplicant’s full legal name, dateof birth, residential address,

photo, Identification number, expiration date, and theapplicant’ssignature) will

beentered into asecuredatabasemaintained by theThird Party administrator that

issued thecard. All information stored in this databaseshall besubject to all

applicablestateand federal laws relating to disclosure, privacy, national security,

and financial crimes.

C. That with respect to theMunicipal Identification Cards, theprospectiveThird

Party Administrator will implement Department of Homeland Security standards

for Level 1 security features for national and state identification cards.

D. That theprospectiveThird Party Administrator will train theRichmond Police

Department and any other City or County department with aneed to verify the

authenticity of theMunicipal Identification Cards, regarding all security features

of thecard, so that cardsmay beauthenticated easily, and department members

may access thedatabase information regarding theuser.

E. That theprospectiveThird Party Administrator, and any card issuersengaged by

theThird Party Administrator, demonstrate theability to comply at aminimum

with the requirementsof Section 326 of theUSA PATRIOT Act (Pub. L. 107-56),

and thefederal regulationspromulgated pursuant to that section, and pursuant to

theBank Protection Act of 1968 (12 CodeFed. Regs. 326).

F. That residentsshall pay no more than $15 per card for adults, and no more than

$10 per card for children. TheprospectiveThird Party Administrator shall

proposeamethod for permitting thewaiver of thesecostsupon proof of

indigency.

FG. That in theevent auser activates thepre-paid debit card function, themaximum

allowable transaction feesshall beas follows:

Account maintenance(monthly) $0.99
Domestic ATM Withdrawal $1.50
ATM Balance Inquiry $0.60
ATM Denial Fee $0.60

Page 8 of 9

Point of Sale (POS) Purchase Denial or Return $0.50
InactiveAccount Fee Monthly [ for card not used for 4 months ] $1.00
Funds Transfer To Replacement Card $1.00
Domestic card-to-card Transfer $2.00
International Signature card ATM withdrawal $3.50
International Remittance $5.00
Load at Merchant $2.95
MobileMaintenance (only if chosen) $1.00
Statement issuanceviaU.S. mail or fax (only if requested) $4.95

In no event shall any fee charged by theprospective Third Party Administrator

exceed $5.00. Any increase of these rates must be approved by theCity Council.

TheCity Council may amend these rates if theRFQ yieldsno acceptablebids.

GH. That theprospectiveThird Party Administrator shall agree to share revenuewith

merchantsand other agencies accepted to perform cash loading into thecard. The

commission on loadsshall beat least $1.00 per load.

HI. That theprospectiveThird Party Administrator demonstrate that the financial

institutions that will provide the debit-card services described herein is financially

stable and asafeand secureentity for theplacement of funds, and that the debit

card users will haveaccess to local banks and ATMs.

I. That theprospectiveThird Party Administrator shall demonstratehow it will train

users in theuseof thepre-paid debit card function. The trainings should be

adapted to theparticular concerns of residents. Policeofficers, City

administrators, and merchants.

J. That theprospectiveThird Party Administrator shall demonstratehow it will

provideaccess to cardholder information in away that allowsRichmond Police

Dispatchers to substantiate the identity of the cardholder when requested by

policeofficers in the field.

Section 5 EffectiveDate

This ordinanceshall not becomeeffective, and theMunicipal Identification Card program

described herein shall not be implemented, unlessand until theFinanceDirector – after selection

of aThird Party Administrator and thorough review of the Administrator’s implementation plan

– certifies to theCity Council that the implementation and administration of theProgram will be

operated at no net cost to theCity or any of its divisions, subdivisions, or agencies. This

ordinanceshall become effective immediately upon Council acceptanceof the Finance

Director’s findings. TheCity Council may approve thecontract with theThird Party

Administrator at thesamemeeting at which theFinanceDirector certifies that theprogram will

becost-neutral for the City.

___________________________

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 87



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

RICHMOND, VA continued

Page 9 of 9

First read at aregular meeting of theCity Council of theCity of Richmond held on July 5,
2011, and finally passed and adopted at a joint meeting thereof held July 19, 2011, by the
following vote:

AYES: CouncilmembersBates, Beckles, Booze, Ritterman, Rogers, Vice
Mayor Butt, and Mayor McLaughlin.

NOES: None.

ABSTENTIONS: None.

ABSENT: None.

DIANE HOLMES
Clerk of theCity of Richmond
(SEAL)

Approved:

GAYLE MCLAUGHLIN
Mayor

Approved as to form:

RANDY RIDDLE
City Attorney

Stateof California }
County of ContraCosta : ss.
City of Richmond }

I certify that the foregoing isa truecopy of OrdinanceNo. 16-11 N.S., finally passed and
adopted by theCity Council of theCity of Richmond at a joint meeting held on July 19, 2011.

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 88



Building Identity

SAN FRANCISCO, CA  

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 89



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

SAN FRANCISCO, CA continued

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 90



Building Identity

SAN FRANCISCO, CA continued

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 91



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

NEW YORK, NY

Int. No. 253 
 
By Council Members Dromm, Menchaca, Cabrera, Chin, Eugene, Ferreras, Koo, Lancman, 
Levine, Mendez, Reynoso, Richards, Rose, Palma, Rosenthal, Rodriguez, Espinal, Lander, 
Johnson, Levin, Miller, Kallos, Van Bramer and Torres 
 
A Local Law to amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to the 
creation of a New York city identity card program. 
 
Be it enacted by the Council as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Chapter 1 of title 3 of the administrative code of the city of New York is 

amended by adding a new subchapter 4, to read as follows: 

Subchapter 4. New York City Identity Card 

§3-132. Definitions 

a. “New York City Identity Card”  shall mean an identification card issued by the city of 

New York that shall, at a minimum, display the cardholder’s photograph, name, date of birth, 

address, and an expiration date. Such card shall also, at the cardholder’s option, display the 

cardholder’s self-designated gender. Such identification card shall be designed in a manner to 

deter fraud.  

b. “Resident”  shall mean person who can establish that he or she is a current resident of 

the city of New York pursuant to section 3-135 of this subchapter. 

c. The terms “national origin,”  “alienage or citizenship status,”  “gender,”  “sexual 

orientation,”  “disability,”  “partnership status,”  “source of income,”  “victim of domestic 

violence,”  “housing status,”  and “victim of sex offenses or stalking,”  shall have the same 

meanings in this subchapter as set forth in title 8 of the administrative code of the city of New 

York.  

§3-133. New York city identity card program 

 2

The mayor’s office of operations shall administer the New York city identity card 

program and shall promulgate all rules necessary to effectuate the purposes of this subchapter. 

Such office shall make applications for such card available for pick-up and submission at any 

agency or office where there is substantial contact with the public and shall also make 

applications available on-line.  

§3-134. Issuance of New York city identity cards 

a. The New York city identity card shall be available to any resident of the city of New 

York, regardless of his or her race, color, creed, age, national origin, alienage or citizenship 

status, gender, sexual orientation, disability, marital status, partnership status, any  lawful source 

of income, housing status, status as a victim of domestic violence or status as a victim of sex 

offenses or stalking, or conviction or arrest record, provided that such resident is able to meet the 

requirements for establishing his or her identity and residency as set forth in section 3-135 of this 

subchapter and of any applicable rule adopted by the mayor’s office of operations pursuant to 

this subchapter. 

b. The mayor’s office of operations shall establish a reasonable fee for applications for a 

New York city identity card and adopt rules permitting residents who cannot afford to pay such 

fee to receive a full or partial waiver.   

§3-135. New York city identity card eligibility 

a. In order to obtain a New York city identity card an applicant must establish identity 

and residency within the city as follows:  

(i) Proof of identity. In order to establish identity, an applicant shall be required to 

produce one or more of the following documents: a U.S. or foreign passport; a U.S. driver’s 

license; a U.S. state identification card; a U.S. permanent resident card; a consular identification 

 3

card; a photo identification card with name, address, date of birth, and expiration date issued by 

another country to its citizens or nationals as an alternative to a passport for re-entry to the 

issuing country; a certified copy of U.S. or foreign birth certificate; a Social Security card; a 

national identification card with photo, name, address, date of birth, and expiration date; a 

foreign driver’s license; a U.S. or foreign military identification card; a current visa issued by a 

government agency; a U.S. Individual Taxpayer Identification Number (ITIN) authorization 

letter; an Electronic Benefit Transfer (EBT) card; or any other documentation that the mayor’s 

office of operations deems acceptable. The mayor’s office of operations may by rule determine 

the weight to be given to each type of document and require that an applicant produce more than 

one document to establish identity. 

(ii) Proof of residency. In order to establish residency, an applicant must present one or 

more of the following items, dated no earlier than 60 days prior to the date such document is 

presented showing both the applicant’s name and residential address located within the city: a 

utility bill; a local property tax statement or mortgage payment receipt; a bank account statement; 

proof that the applicant has a minor child currently enrolled in a school located within the city; 

an employment pay stub; a jury summons or court order issued by a state or federal court; a 

federal or state income tax or refund statement; an insurance bill (homeowner’s, renter’s, health, 

life, or automobile insurance); written verification issued by a homeless shelter that receives city 

funding confirming at least 15 days residency; written verification issued by a hospital, health 

clinic or social services agency that receives city funding confirming at least 15 days residency; 

or any other documentation that the mayor’s office of operations deems acceptable. The mayor’s 

office of operations may by rule determine the weight to be given to each type of document, and 

require that an applicant produce more than one document to establish residency. The mayor’s 

 4

office of operations shall by rule create alternative methods by which individuals who are 

homeless can establish residency in the city notwithstanding the lack of fixed address. 

§3-136. Confidentiality of New York city identity card eligibility information 

a. The city shall not retain originals or copies of records provided by an applicant to 

prove identity or residency for a New York city identity card. 

b. To the maximum extent allowed by applicable federal and state law, information 

collected about applicants for the card shall be treated as confidential and shall not be disclosed 

to government entities or private parties unless such disclosure is: 

(i) Authorized in writing by the individual to whom such information pertains, or if such 

individual is a minor or is otherwise not legally competent, by such individual’s parent or legal 

guardian; or 

(ii) So ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction. 

§3-137. Access to services 

a. All city agencies shall accept such card as proof of identity and residency for access to 

city services unless such acceptance is prohibited by state or federal law or unless the agency has 

reasonable grounds to believe that the individual presenting the card is not the individual to 

whom the card was issued.  

b. The city shall seek to expand the benefits associated with the New York city identity 

card, including encouraging eligible persons to apply for the card and promoting the acceptance 

of the New York city identity card by banks and other public and private institutions. 

c. City agencies shall not require the possession of a New York city identity card where 

identification is not already required to obtain city services.  

§3-138. Language assistance services 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 92



Building Identity

 5

The city shall, consistent with all federal, state and local laws, provide language 

assistance to applicants for the New York city identity cards to facilitate access thereto.  

§3-139. Penalties 

It shall be a misdemeanor for any person to knowingly present false information in the 

course of applying for such card, or to use such a card issued to another person with the intent to 

cause a third person to believe that the holder of the card is the person to whom such card was 

issued. 

 §2. This local law shall take effect six months after its enactment. 

----- 
4/9/14  
11:27 AM 

NEW YORK, NY continued

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 93



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

NEW YORK, NY

 

1 
 

NOTICE OF ADOPTION OF RULE 
 

Pursuant to the power vested in me as Commissioner of the New York City 
Human Resources Administration (“HRA”) by Mayor de Blasio’s Executive Order 
Number 6, designating HRA as the administering agency of the New York City 
Identification Card Program (“IDNYC Card Program”), I hereby adopt the following rule 
to be added as Chapter 6 of Title 68 of the Official Compilation of the Rules of the City 
of New York. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated:  November 26, 2014______  ______/s/______________ 
   New York, New York   Steven Banks 

Commissioner 
       NYC Human Resources Administration

 

3 
 

• Establishes privacy protections that safeguard information collected for issuing the 

identification card to protect against identity theft and fraud; and 

• Provides that an applicant who has been denied an IDNYC Card may seek review of this 

denial by submitting a review request to the Executive Director of the IDNYC Card 

program within 30 days of issuance of the denial.  

 

 Rule  

Title 68 of the Rules of the City of New York is amended by adding a new Chapter 6 to read as 

follows: 

Chapter 6. IDNYC Card Program 

§ 6-01. Definitions. 

For the purposes of this chapter:  

(a)  “IDNYC Card” has the same meaning as “New York City identity card,” as provided in 

section 3-115(a) of the Administrative Code of the City of New York. 

(b) “HRA” means the New York City Human Resources Administration. 

(c) “Resident” has the same meaning as provided in section 3-115(a) of the Administrative Code 

of the City of New York. 

(d) “Caretaker” means a birth parent, adoptive parent, legal guardian, legal custodian, foster 

care parent,  executive-level official or agency caseworker from Administration for Children 

Services (ACS) or a designated ACS foster care agency. 

(e) “Individual who lacks a stable residence” means a person who lacks permanent housing, 

who may live on the streets, in a vehicle or abandoned building, or reside at a location where 

there is a maximum stay of 30 days or less.  

(f)  “State” means any of the 50 states of the United States, and shall also be deemed to include 

the District of Columbia, and any of the territories of the United States. 

(g)  “Territories” means American Samoa, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, 

Guam, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. 

(h) “Machine readable” means a document with data that can be verified by electronic means by 

the IDNYC Card Program application system. 

 

§ 6-02.  The IDNYC Card 

(a) The IDNYC Card will display the cardholder’s photograph, name, date of birth, an expiration 

date, signature, eye color, height, identification number, and, except as provided in this section, 

a street address located within the City of New York. The card will also, at the cardholder’s 

 

2 
 

 
Statement of Basis and Purpose of Rule 

 
On July 10, 2014, Mayor de Blasio signed Local Law No. 35 of 2014, establishing the New York 

City Identification Card Program (“IDNYC Card Program”) to ensure that every New Yorker is 

provided with the opportunity and peace of mind that comes with possessing a government 

issued photo identification.  On August 4, 2014, the Mayor issued Executive Order No. 6, 

designating the New York City Human Resources Administration (HRA) as the administering 

agency of the IDNYC Card Program.  HRA published a proposed rule concerning the program 

on September 5, 2014 and a public hearing was held on October 8, 2014.  In accordance with 

Local Law No. 35 (now codified as New York City Administrative Code Section 3-115) and 

Executive Order No. 6, HRA now adds Chapter 6 to Title 68 of the Rules of the City of New York 

to implement the program and set forth more details regarding the program. 

 
The need for the City of New York to create an additional form of government issued photo 

identification is significant, as approximately half of New York City residents age 16 and over do 

not have a New York State Driver’s License. The IDNYC Card will better connect more New 

Yorkers, regardless of immigration status, homeless status, or gender identity, to public and 

private sector services, programs and benefits.   

The City of New York will launch a citywide public awareness and community engagement 

campaign to effectively educate New Yorkers about how to apply for this card and the value it 

will offer to cardholders. The City of New York will address the needs of limited English 

proficient (LEP) individuals in the administration of the IDNYC Card Program through, among 

other things, staff training, community outreach, and the use of language assistance tools. The 

City of New York will also provide accommodations to applicants with disabilities to promote 

access to the card for all New Yorkers.  

This rule establishes requirements to implement the IDNYC Card Program and provides 

guidance to critical stakeholders and applicants interested in obtaining the IDNYC Card. The 

proposed rule was identified as the “Municipal ID Card Program.” The name of the program has 

been changed to the “IDNYC Card Program,” and the final rule reflects this change. 

Specifically, the rule:  

• Establishes that the IDNYC Card will be provided to applicants free of charge; 

• Establishes that cards will expire after five years; 

• Creates a mechanism for homeless New Yorkers without a permanent address to obtain 

a card;  

• Sets the minimum age to apply for the card at 14 years of age; 

• Provides protections to survivors of domestic violence; 

• Sets forth the documents with which applicants may demonstrate identity and residency 

and the weight each document will have;  

• Establishes that cardholders who change their residential address, gender, or name 

should update the information appearing on the card within 10 days of the change; 

 

4 
 

option, display the cardholder’s self-designated gender, designated emergency contact 

information, preferred language and such additional information as HRA may in the future 

display. 

(b) The IDNYC Card will not display a home address in the following circumstances: 

(1) The applicant is an individual who lacks a stable residence or is a survivor of 

domestic violence and provides evidence of residency pursuant to section 6-06(c)(2) of 

this title; 

(2) The applicant resides in a residential care program certified by the New York State 

Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance (OTDA) and operated by a nonprofit 

organization in accordance with the regulations of OTDA for the purpose of providing 

emergency shelter, services and care to survivors of domestic violence; or 

(3) The applicant participates in the New York State Address Confidentiality Program 

established by New York Executive Law § 108 for victims of domestic violence. 

(c) In the case of an applicant described in paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of this section, the 

IDNYC Card may display a “care of” address in the form of the name and address of an entity 

that meets the requirements listed in the last entry of the table set forth in section 6-06(c)(2) of 

this title. To request a card that displays a “care of” address, the applicant must submit a signed 

letter from an executive-level official from such entity stating that: (1) the applicant currently 

receives services from the entity, and (2) the applicant may use the entity’s address for mailing 

purposes.   

(d) In the case of an applicant described in paragraphs (2) or (3) of subdivision (b) of this 

section, the IDNYC Card will display either a P.O. Box associated with the applicable program 

or no address at all, depending on the applicant’s preference.  

 

§ 6-03.  Eligibility and Application Process 

(a) The IDNYC Card will be available to any resident of the City of New York over 14 years of 
age who establishes identity and residency as set forth in sections 6-04 through 6-07 of this title 
by submitting an application on a form and in a format established by the Commissioner, and by 
providing documents from the charts set forth in sections 6-04 through 6-07 that total the 
requisite number of points as set forth in those sections. 

(b) No expired documentation will be accepted, except as provided in section 6-05(c)(1) 
pertaining to expired IDNYC Cards that have expired no more than 60 days from the date 
submitted, and section 6-05(c)(2) pertaining to expired machine readable U.S. or foreign 
passports that have expired no more than three years from the date submitted. 

(c) Only original documents or copies of documents that have been certified by the original 
issuing agency will be accepted. 

 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 94



Building Identity

NEW YORK, NY continued

 

5 
 

(d) All documents used to establish identity and residency must include the name of the 
individual whose identity and residency is being established. At least one of the documents 
used to establish identity must include the current name of the individual whose identity is being 
established. 

(e) Applicants must present documents in person at an enrollment site designated by HRA in 
accordance with section 3-115(b)(2) of the Administrative Code of the City of New York. 
Applicants who provide original documents that are not in English may also provide certified 
English translations, but are not required to do so.  Original documents will be returned 
immediately to the applicant once they are digitally scanned.   

 

§ 6-04. Proof of Identity and Residency 

An applicant may provide a single document that is worth the four points needed to establish 

both identity and residency. The documents listed below meet this four point requirement, 

provided that they include a photo of the applicant, the date of birth of the applicant, and the 

applicant’s current residential address in New York City.  

The following documents are worth four points and establish identity and residency: 

Document Description 
Acceptable 
as Photo 

ID? 

Point Value 
for Proof of 

ID & 
Residency 

Date 
of 

Birth 

New York State 
(NYS) Department 
of Motor Vehicles 

(DMV) Driver’s 
License or 

Learner’s Permit 

New York State Driver’s License or 
Learner’s Permit with current home 

address, date of birth, photo and 
expiration date issued by NYS DMV. 

Yes 4 Yes 

NYS DMV 
Identification Card 

Photo identification card with current 
home address, date of birth, and 

expiration date issued by NYS DMV. 
Yes 4 Yes 

New York City 
“NYC” Handgun 

License 

New York City Police Department 
(NYPD) issued Handgun License 

including  current home address and 
photo of applicant and dated within one 

year. 

Yes 4 Yes 

 

§ 6-05.  Proof of Identity  

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, in order to establish identity, an applicant will 

be required to meet the following criteria: 

(1) An applicant must provide documents from the charts set forth in section 6-05(c) 

below that in aggregate total at least three points;  

 

7 
 

 

Current U.S. Work 
Permit 

Employment Authorization Document 
(EAD) or work permit issued by U.S. 
Citizenship and Immigration Services 
(USCIS) that proves that the holder is 

authorized to work in the U.S. with  date 
of birth, and expiration date. 

Yes 3 Yes 

Certificate of 
Citizenship/ 

Naturalization 

U.S. Certificate of Citizenship (N-560 or 
N-561); Certificate of Naturalization (N-

550, N-570 or N-568). 
Yes 3 Yes 

U.S. Federal 
Government issued 

photo ID 

A photo identification card with address, 
date of birth, and expiration date, issued 

by U.S. federal government. 
Yes 3 Yes 

U.S. Tribal ID 
A U.S. Tribal photo ID with photo,  

address, signature, date of birth, and 
expiration date.  

Yes 3 Yes 

IDNYC Card 
A current IDNYC Card or an expired 

IDNYC Card with an expiration date 60 
days or less before the date submitted 

Yes 3 Yes 

 

(2) The following documents are worth two points toward establishing the identity of the 
applicant:  

Document Description 
Acceptable 
as Photo 

ID? 

Point Value 
for Proof of 

ID 

Date 
of 

Birth 

Foreign Passport 
Foreign Passport that is not machine 

readable. 
Yes 2 Yes 

Expired U.S. or 
Foreign Passport 

Expired U.S. or Foreign Passport that is 
machine readable and has expired within 

three years of date submitted 
Yes 2 Yes 

Consular 
Identification Card 

Photo identification card with address, 
date of birth, and expiration date, issued 
by foreign governments recognized by 

the U.S. to their citizens, who are outside 
the issuing country. 

Yes 2 Yes 

U.S. Federal, State, 
or Local Government 

Employee ID 

Federal, state or local government 
employee photo ID card.  

Yes 2 No 

 

6 
 

 
(2) An applicant must provide photo identification; and 

(3) One of the documents submitted must contain the applicant’s date of birth. 

(b)  HRA may determine in the future that additional documents may be accepted and will be 

afforded the value of one point toward establishing the identity of the applicant.  

(c) (1) The following documents establish the identity of the applicant (3 points): 

Document Description 
Acceptable 
as Photo 

ID? 

Point Value 
for Proof of 

ID 

Date 
of 

Birth 

U.S. Passport or 
U.S. Passport Card 

U.S. passport or passport card.  Yes 3 Yes 

Foreign Passport  A machine readable Foreign Passport. Yes 3 Yes 

U.S. State Driver’s 
License or 

Learner’s Permit 
Photo ID  

Photo identification card issued by U.S. 
state (other than New York State Driver’s 

License with current New York City 
address) or territory granting driving 

privileges, with address, date of birth, 
and expiration date.  

Yes 3 Yes 

U.S. State 
Identification Card 

Photo identification card issued by U.S. 
state (other than New York State 

Identification Card with current New York 
City address) or territory with address, 

date of birth, and expiration date. 

Yes 3 Yes 

U.S. Permanent 
Resident Card 

Alien registration card (I-551), also 
known as a permanent resident or green 

card. Unexpired I-551 stamps in 
passport also accepted for permanent 

residents awaiting issuance of their 
green cards. 

Yes 3 Yes 

NYS Electronic 
Benefit Transfer 

(EBT) Card / 
Common Benefit 
Information Card 
(CBIC) with Photo 

Welfare / Medicaid / NY Food Stamp 
Card with Photo with date of birth. 

Yes 3 Yes 

Common Access 
Card 

Department of Defense (DOD) issued 
photo identification card with date of 

birth, date of issuance, expiration date, 
blood type, and DOD identification 

number, issued to active duty, retiree or 
reservist military personnel only. 

Yes 3 Yes 

 

8 
 

 

NYS Professional or 
Vocational 

Identification Card 

Photo Identification card issued by the 
New York State Department of Motor 

Vehicles with profession, license number, 
DMV ID number, expiration date, and 

NYC address.  

Yes 2 No 

U.S. Birth 
Certificate 

Certificate of birth issued by a State or 
Territory, or a locality of a State or 

Territory, or by the U.S. State 
Department, including Consular Report of 
Birth Abroad. A birth certificate issued in 
Puerto Rico prior to July 1, 2010 will not 
be accepted.  All birth certificates issued 
prior to that date have been invalidated 

by Puerto Rican law. 

No 2 Yes 

Visa Issued by  U.S. 
State Department 

U.S. State Department issued immigrant 
or non-immigrant visa with photo 

identification.  
Yes 2 Yes 

Foreign Driver’s 
License 

Machine readable photo identification 
card granting driving privileges with 

address, date of birth, and expiration 
date.  

Yes 2 Yes 

Foreign National 
Identification Card 

Machine readable national identification 
card with photo, address, date of birth, 

and expiration date. Must be accepted for 
purposes of re-entry to issuing country.  

Yes 2 Yes 

Social Security 
Card 

The following types of Social Security 
Cards (unrestricted and restricted) issued 

by the U.S. Social Security 
Administration will be accepted: (i) a card 
that enables the holder to work without 

restriction; (ii) a card that permits an 
individual with authorization from the 
Department of Homeland Security to 
work on a temporary basis; and (iii) a 

card marked “not valid for employment.” 

No 2 No 

U.S. Individual 
Taxpayer 

Identification 
Number 

Authorization Letter 

Letter from U.S. Internal Revenue 
Service (IRS) assigning ITIN number to 

applicant with date of birth. 
No 2 No 

U.S. Uniformed 
Services ID 

Photo identification card with date of birth 
and expiration date issued to military 

retiree or military family member to access 
military service benefits or privileges. 

Yes 2 Yes 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 95



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

NEW YORK, NY continued

 

9 
 

 

NYC Mobile Food 
Vending Unit 

License 

NYC Department of Health and Mental 
Hygiene issued mobile food vending unit 
license, with photo, license number and 

expiration date. 

Yes  2 No 

Approval Notice 
Issued by U.S. 
Citizenship and 

Immigration 
Services (USCIS) 

Notice from USCIS approving applicant 
for an immigration benefit that either is 

currently valid or does not have an 
expiration date.  Examples of immigration 

benefits include Employment 
Authorization Documents, Adjustment of 

Status, Temporary Protected Status, 
Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals, 

and Naturalization.  
 

No 2 No 

 

(3) The following documents are worth one point toward establishing the identity of the 
applicant:  

Document Description 
Acceptable 
as Photo 

ID? 

Point Value 
for Proof of 

ID 

Date 
of 

Birth 

Educational 
Institution ID Card: 
middle, secondary, 

post-secondary 
schools, colleges 
and universities 

Photo ID issued by an accredited U.S. 
educational institution, including New 

York City Department of Education and 
CUNY schools. 

Yes 1 Some 

Foreign Driver’s 
License 

Photo identification card granting driving 
privileges with address, date of birth, 

and expiration date, that is not machine 
readable. 

Yes 1 Yes 

Foreign National 
Identification Card 

 National identification card with photo, 
address, date of birth, and expiration 
date, that is not machine readable.  
Must be accepted for purposes of 

reentry to issuing country. 

Yes 1 Yes 

Foreign Military 
Photo Identification 

Card 

Photo identification card with  date of 
birth and expiration date issued to 

active duty, retiree or reservist military 
personnel by foreign country. 

Yes 1 Yes 

Foreign Birth 
Certificate 

Certificate of birth issued by current or 
former sovereign nation. 

No 1 Yes 

 

11 
 

 

Reduced Fare 
MetroCard for 

Seniors and People 
with Disabilities 

Must include photo identification and  
be issued by Metropolitan 
Transportation Authority. 

Yes 1 No 

Access-A-Ride ID 
Card 

Photo identification card issued by 
Metropolitan Transportation Authority. 

Yes 1 No 

NYC  Department of 
Parks and 

Recreation issued 
Recreation Center 
Membership Card 

Photo identification card with  expiration 
date issued by the NYC Department of 
Parks and Recreation for Recreation 

Center Membership. 

Yes 1 No 

U.S. Voter 
Registration Card 

Voter registration card with address, 
and date of birth, issued by any State or 

Territory. 
No 1 No 

Selective Service 
Registration Card 

A card issued by the U.S. Selective 
Service System to men ages 18-25, 

who have registered with the Selective 
Service. 

No 1 Yes 

 
 
§ 6-06.  Proof of Residency 
 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section or in sections 6-04 or 6-07 of this title, in order 

to establish residency, an applicant will be required to produce a document from section 6-

06(c)(1) displaying the applicant’s residential street address located in New York City. All 

documents must display the applicant’s name.  

(b) HRA may determine in the future that additional documents may be accepted and will be 

afforded the value of one point toward establishing the residency of the applicant.  

(c)(1) The following documents are worth one point and establish residency.  The 

address on the document will be shown on the card, except as provided in section 6-

02(b) of this title:  

Document Description 
Point Value 
for Proof of 
Residency 

Acceptable 
as Proof of 

Address 

Cable, Phone, or 
Utility Bill 

Must be dated no more than 60 days prior to the 
date submitted and include and home address of 

applicant. 
1 Yes 

Residential Property 
Must be a current lease. Handwritten leases 

must include name and address of the owner, 
1 Yes 

 

10 
 

 

U.S. Birth Certificate 
of Applicant’s Child 

Birth certificate of applicant’s child,  
issued by a State or Territory, or a 

locality of a State or Territory, or by the 
U.S. State Department, including 

Consular Report of Birth Abroad listing 
applicant as birth parent. A birth 

certificate issued in Puerto Rico prior to 
July 1, 2010 will not be accepted.  All 

birth certificates issued prior to that date 
have been invalidated by Puerto Rico 

law. 

No 1 Yes 

NYS Benefits Card 
without Photo 

Welfare/Medicaid/NY Food Stamp Card 
without Photo and with date of birth. 

No 1 Yes 

NYC Summer Youth 
Employment Program 
Identification Card 

Photo identification card issued by a 
community based organization that 

administers the NYC Summer Youth 
Employment Program. 

Yes 1 No 

U.S. School 
Transcript From 

High School or Post-
Secondary School 

Academic transcript, including  date of 
birth, terms and dates attended or 

attending, cumulative academic record, 
and, if applicable, degrees awarded. 

No 1 Some 

U.S. High School 
Diploma, High 

School Equivalency 
Diploma or U.S. 
Post-Secondary 

School, College, or 
University Diploma 

U.S. High School Diploma, High School 
Equivalency Diploma (accepted based 
on General Educational Development 
(GED) and Test Assessing Secondary 
Completion (TASC) exams), or U.S. 
post-secondary school, college, or 

university diploma. 

No 1 Some  

Employee 
Identification Card 

from Employer 
Located in U.S. 

Employee photo identification card, 
including clergy identification cards, with 

employer name and address. 
Yes 1 No 

U.S. Union 

Photo ID 

Card identifying holder as a member of 
a union that represents employees 

working in the United States.  
Yes 1 No 

Certificate of 
marriage, domestic 

partnership, civil 
union, divorce or 

dissolution of 
marriage, domestic 
partnership or civil 

union 

 Certificate of marriage, domestic 
partnership, civil union, divorce or 
dissolution of marriage, domestic 

partnership or civil union 

No 1 Yes 

 

12 
 

Lease address of the unit rented, term of the lease, 
amount of rent, terms regarding utilities, and 

contact information for the owner.  

Local Property Tax 
Statement 

Property tax statement including home address, 
dated within one year of the date submitted. 

1 Yes 

Property Mortgage 
Payment Receipt 

Mortgage payment receipt including home 
address, dated no more than sixty days prior to 

the date submitted. 
1 Yes 

Bank Account 
Statement 

Must be dated no more than 60 days from date 
submitted and include home address. 

1 Yes 

Employment Pay Stub 
Must be dated no more than 60 days prior to 
date submitted and include home address. 

1  Yes 

Statement, bill, or 
record from 

designated health 
institution 

Statement, bill, or record from the NYC Health 
and Hospitals Corporation’s HHC Options,  

program, or a Federally Qualified Health Center, 
including home address of applicant and dated 

no more than one year from date submitted. 

1 Yes 

Jury Summons or 
Court Order Issued by 
New York State Court 

or Federal Court 

Must be dated no more than 60 days prior to the 
date submitted and include home address. 

1 Yes 

Federal, State, or City 
Income Tax or Refund 

Statement 

Tax or Refund Statement including home 
address and dated within one year of the date 

submitted. 
1 Yes 

Insurance Bill or 
Statement 

(homeowner’s, life, 
renter’s, automobile, 
or health insurance) 

Insurance bill or statement including home 
address and dated no more than 60 days prior to 

the date submitted. 
1 Yes 

Letter from Homeless 
Shelter that receives 

City Funding 

Signed letter from executive official at homeless 
shelter receiving City funding stating that 

applicant has been a current resident for at least 
15 days and the shelter allows residents to 

remain in residence for longer than 30 days. 

1 Yes 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 96



Building Identity

NEW YORK, NY continued

 

13 
 

 

 

(2) The following documents are worth one point and establish residency for an 
individual who lacks a stable residence or is a survivor of domestic violence, as 
applicable. When applicants submit one of these documents for proof of residency, no 
home address will appear on the card except as provided in this paragraph and in 
subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 6-02: 

Letter from New York 
City Housing Authority 

Signed letter from manager of NYC Housing 
Authority (NYCHA) residential development, 

indicating that applicant is listed on the current 
lease or is otherwise authorized by NYCHA to 

reside in the apartment, dated no more than 60 
days prior to the date submitted. 

1 Yes 

Letter from 

Elementary, 

Intermediate School 

or High School or 

NYC Department of 

Education District 79 

School 

 

Signed letter from principal or the principal’s 
designee at a public, private, or parochial 

elementary, intermediate or high school or a 
NYC Department of Education District 79 school 
where applicant or applicant’s child is a currently 

enrolled student that confirms home address, 
dated no more than 60 days prior to the date 

submitted. The NYC Department of Education 
requires parental consent to issue such a letter 

for a student younger than age 18. 

1 Yes 

Letter from NYC 
Administration for 

Children’s Services 
(ACS)  Foster Care 

Agency 

Signed letter from executive level official at ACS 
or ACS designated NYC foster care agency 

establishing residency of foster youth applicant, 
dated no more than 60 days prior to the date 

submitted.  

1  Yes 

Document Description 
Point Value 
for Proof of 
Residency 

Acceptable 
as Proof of 

Address 

Letter Issued by New 
York City Agency, 

Nonprofit 
Organization or 

Religious Institution 
Located within City of 

New York Serving 
Homeless Individuals  

Signed letter from executive-level official from a 
City agency, nonprofit organization or religious 
institution that provides services to homeless 
individuals. The letter must indicate applicant 

has resided in New York City for at least 15 days 
and lacks a stable residence; letter must be 
dated no more than 30 days prior to the date 

submitted. 

1 No 

 

15 
 

(b)  The applicant and caretaker must demonstrate proof of relationship by providing at least 

one of the following documents: 

Document Description 
Date of 
Birth of 

Applicant 

Where Caretaker 
is Parent: 

Applicant’s Birth 
Certificate 

Applicant’s birth certificate displaying 
caretaker’s name as parent. A birth 

certificate issued in Puerto Rico prior to 
July 1, 2010 will not be accepted.  All 

birth certificates issued prior to that date 
have been invalidated by Puerto Rico 

law. 

Yes 

Where Caretaker 
is Parent: 

Adoption Decree  

Applicant’s adoption decree displaying 
caretaker’s name as parent. 

Yes 

Where Caretaker 
is Legal 

Guardian: Court 
Decree 

Court decree displaying caretaker’s 
name as legal guardian. 

Yes 

Where Caretaker 
is Foster-Care 
Parent, ACS 

Executive-Level 
official or ACS 
Foster Care 

Agency 
Caseworker: 

Letter from NYC 
Administration for 

Children’s 
Services Foster 

Care Agency 

Signed letter from executive-level 
official at ACS or ACS designated NYC 

foster care agency establishing 
relationship of youth applicant to foster 

parent or agency caseworker 

Yes 

Where Caretaker 
is Parent: U.S. 

Tax Return 

Tax return listing the applicant by name 
as a dependent of the caretaker filed 

with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service 
and dated within five years of 

submission.  

Yes 

 

(c) At least one of the documents provided pursuant to section 6-07(a) or 6-07(b) above must 

include the applicant’s date of birth;  

(d) The caretaker must demonstrate proof of the caretaker’s own identity worth at least three 

points from the lists set forth in section 6-05(c), including a photo identification; and 

(e) The applicant’s residency must be established by: (i) the applicant establishing residency in 

accordance with section 6-06 above or (ii) the caretaker establishing residency for the applicant 

 

14 
 

 

§ 6-07.  Applicants Age 21 and Younger 

Applicants who are 21 years of age or younger are not required to provide photo identification if 

accompanied by a caretaker who can demonstrate proof of a relationship to the applicant. For 

HRA to issue an IDNYC Card to such an applicant without photo identification, each of the 

following criteria must be met: 

(a) The applicant must provide documents worth a total of at least two points from the proof of 

identity lists set forth in section 6-05(c);  

Letter Issued by New 
York City Agency, 

Nonprofit 
Organization, or 

Religious Institution 
that Provides Services 

to Survivors of 
Domestic Violence  

Signed letter from executive-level official from a 
New York City agency, nonprofit organization, or 

religious institution that provides services to 
survivors of domestic violence. The letter must 
indicate that applicant has resided in New York 

City for at least 15 days and has security 
concerns about an address appearing on the 

IDNYC Card; letter must be dated no more than 
30 days prior to the date submitted. 

1 No 

Letter Issued by a 

Hospital or Health 

Clinic Located in City 

of New York 

Signed letter from executive-level official at 
hospital or health clinic indicating that applicant 

has resided at the facility for at least 15 days 
over the previous 60 day period; letter must be 
dated no more than 30 days prior to the date 

submitted. 

1 No 

Letter Issued by 

Nonprofit 

Organization or 

Religious Institution 

Located within City of 

New York Serving 

Homeless Individuals 

or Survivors of 

Domestic Violence 

indicating “Care Of” 

Address 

Signed letter from executive-level official from a 
nonprofit organization or religious institution that 

provides services to homeless individuals or 
survivors of domestic violence. The organization 

must currently receive City funding.  

To establish use of the nonprofit organization’s 
or religious institution’s address for mailing 

purposes, the letter must indicate that: (1) the 
applicant has received services from the entity 
for the past 60 days, (2) the applicant may use 

the entity’s address for mailing purposes, and (3) 
the applicant lacks a stable address or has 

security concerns about an address appearing 
on the IDNYC Card. The letter must be dated no 
more than 14 days from the date submitted. The 
card issued will indicate the address is “Care Of” 

the organization that has written the letter.  

1 Yes 

 

16 
 

by establishing the caretaker’s own residency in accordance with section 6-06 above and 

providing an attestation, on a form and in a format established by the Commissioner, that the 

applicant resides with the caretaker. 

 

§ 6-08.  Reporting Name Changes and Changes of Address 

(a) An individual issued an IDNYC Card must report a change of name, address or gender 

within 10 days of such change.  

(b) After a change to an individual’s name, address or gender, an individual who has notified 

HRA of such change may obtain a new IDNYC Card by bringing the outdated card to an IDNYC 

enrollment location. 

 

§ 6-09.  Fees  

(a) HRA will not charge a fee to an applicant in connection with the issuance of an applicant’s 

first IDNYC Card.  

(b) HRA will charge a $10.00 fee for the replacement of an unexpired card except where 

the individual requests a replacement card in order to update the address, name, or gender and 

brings the outdated IDNYC Card to an IDNYC enrollment location. 

(c) HRA will waive the fee set forth in section 6-09(b) on behalf of individuals who submit a self-

attestation indicating that they cannot afford the cost of such fee. 

 

§ 6-10.  Expiration and Renewal 

(a) The IDNYC Card will be valid for five years from the date of application approval. 

(b) In order for an individual to receive a renewal card, the individual must present (i) an IDNYC 

Card that is active or has expired no more than 60 days prior to the date of the application for a 

renewal card and (ii) documents sufficient to establish residency as set forth in section 6-04 or 

6-06 above, as applicable.  Alternatively, if the individual is age 21 or under and accompanied 

by a caretaker who demonstrates proof of the caretaker’s own identity worth at least three 

points from the lists set forth in section 6-05(c), including a photo identification, and the 

individual and the caretaker present documents sufficient to establish their relationship as set 

forth in section 6-05(b), the caretaker may establish the individual’s continued residency by 

establishing the caretaker’s own residency in accordance with section 6-06 above and providing 

an attestation that the individual resides with the caretaker.  

(c) An individual who presents an IDNYC Card that has expired for more than 60 days or who 

fails to present an IDNYC Card at the time of renewal, will be treated as a new applicant. 

 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 97



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

NEW YORK, NY continued

 

17 
 

§ 6-11.  Confidentiality of IDNYC Card Eligibility Information 

(a) Once every quarter HRA will destroy copies of records provided by applicants to prove 

identity or residency for an IDNYC Card that have been retained more than two years, except 

where such records are required by law to be preserved as evidence for purposes of litigation.  

(b) On or before December 31, 2016, HRA will review data collected in the report described in 

section 3-115(h) of the Administrative Code and make a determination regarding the continuing 

need to retain records pursuant to section 3-115(e)(1) of such code in order to effectively 

administer the IDNYC Card Program and will make any appropriate modifications to the policy 

for retention of records related to the IDNYC Card Program.  

(c) In the event that: (i) HRA fails to make a determination on or before December 31, 2016 

pursuant to section 3-115(e)(2) of the Administrative Code, or (ii) HRA determines that records 

retention is no longer necessary, then HRA will not retain originals or copies of records provided 

by an applicant to prove identity or residency for a IDNYC Card for longer than the time needed 

to review the application, and any such records in HRA’s possession prior to such date will be 

destroyed on or before December 31, 2016 or, in the case of an application pending on such 

date, as soon as practicable after a final determination has been made regarding the 

application. Nothing in this subdivision will be construed to prevent HRA from retaining records 

where such records are required by law to be preserved as evidence for purposes of litigation. 

(d) Information collected about applicants for the card will be treated as confidential to the 

maximum extent allowable by applicable federal and state law and may only be disclosed if:  

(i) Authorized in writing by the individual to whom such information pertains, or if such 

individual is a minor or is otherwise not legally competent, by such individual’s parent or 

legal guardian;  

(ii) So ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction;  

(iii) To a requesting city agency for the limited purpose of administering the IDNYC Card 

Program or determining or facilitating the applicant’s eligibility for additional benefits, 

services, and care, provided that such disclosure is made in accordance with all 

applicable federal and state privacy laws and regulations, and subject to the further 

requirement that such information will not be redisclosed to any other governmental 

agency or entity, or third party; or  

(iv) To a law enforcement agency that serves the administering agency a judicial 

subpoena or judicial warrant. 

 (e) HRA will not indicate on the IDNYC Card application forms the type of records provided by 

an applicant to establish residency or identity. 

 

18 
 

§ 6-12. Review of Denial of IDNYC Card Applications. 

(a)   An applicant who has been denied an IDNYC Card may seek review of the denial 
determination by submitting a review request, on a form and in a format established by the 
Commissioner, to the IDNYC Card Program within 30 days of issuance of the denial.   

 
(b)   The Executive Director of the IDNYC Card Program or his or her designee shall review and 
respond in writing to all review requests within 30 days of receipt.  The Executive Director or his 
or her designee will have the power to reverse or uphold the determination under review. 

 
(c)    If the Executive Director or his or her designee does not issue a response to the review 
request within 30 days of receipt by the IDNYC Card Program, then the determination under 
review shall become the final decision on the application.  

 

 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 98



Building Identity

NEWARK, NJ

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 99



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

NEWARK, NJ continued

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 100



Building Identity

HARTFORD, CT

Introduced by: 

 
 

HEADING 
AND 

PURPOSE 

Mayor Pedro Segarra 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2 OF THE HARTFORD MUNICIPAL CODE 
TO ADD ARTICLE XXII RE MUNICIPAL IDENTIFICATION CARD PROGRAM 
 
 
         COURT OF COMMON COUNCIL, 
         CITY OF HARTFORD 
 

April 27, 2015 

 
Be It Ordained by the Court of Common Council of the City of Hartford that Chapter 2 of the 
Hartford Municipal Code is hereby amended to add Article XXII to read as follows. 
 
 
ARTICLE XXII. – MUNICIPAL IDENTIFICATION CARD PROGRAM 
 
Sec. 2-930. – Establishment and Purpose 
 
The City of Hartford shall create a Hartford municipal identification card for the purpose of 
improving the quality of life for residents, enhancing the City’s reputation as a welcoming and 
inclusive community, assisting unbanked and underbanked residents to become part of the 
mainstream economy, and promoting a sense of shared identity for those who live in Connecticut’s 
capital city. 
 
Sec. 2-931 - Definitions 
 
Program Administrator shall mean the City department or office designated by the Mayor to 
administer the Hartford municipal identification card program. 
 
Hartford City ID Card shall mean an identification card issued by the City of Hartford pursuant to 
Section 2-933. 
 
Resident shall mean a person who can establish that he or she is a current resident of the city of 
Hartford pursuant to Section 2-934. 
 
Third Party Administrator shall mean the vendor selected through a competitive procurement 
process to administer the Hartford City ID Card program at no net cost to the City of Hartford. 
 
Sec. 2-932 - Program Administration 
 

A. The Mayor shall designate a Program Administrator to administer the Hartford City ID Card 
program. The Program Administrator shall coordinate with and oversee the work of the Third 
Party Administrator in implementation of the program. 
 

B. The Third Party Administrator shall develop and promulgate all rules necessary to carry out 
the program and shall implement the program.  The Third Party Administrator shall designate 
access sites where persons may pick up and submit applications for ID cards and shall also 

 2

make applications available on-line.  The Third Party Administrator, consistent with all 
federal, state, and local laws, shall provide language assistance to applicants for the Hartford 
City ID Cards to facilitate access thereto.  The Third Party Administrator shall identify and 
implement measures to address the needs of limited English proficient individuals in the 
administration of the Hartford City ID Card program. Such measures shall include, but shall 
not be limited to, staff training, community outreach, and language assistance tools.  The 
Third Party Administrator shall be responsible for negotiating and entering into contracts 
with banking institutions in order to offer the option of using the ID Card as a standard pre-
paid debit card. 

 
Sec. 2-933 - Issuance 
 

A. Card Design: The Hartford City Card shall display, at a minimum, the cardholder’s 
photograph, name, date of birth, address, an expiration date that is not more than five years 
from the date of issuance, and, at the cardholder’ s option, gender identity. The Card shall be 
designed in such as manner as to allow the use of the Card, at the cardholder’s option, as a 
standard, pre-paid debit card.  The card shall be designed in such a manner as to deter fraud.  
The Third Party Administrator may, by rule, establish procedures to protect the addresses of 
victims of domestic violence or alternate requirements for applicants who lack a permanent 
address. 

 
B. Availability: The Hartford City ID Card shall be available to any resident of Hartford 

without regard to race, color, creed, age, gender, sexual orientation, national origin, 
citizenship status, marital or partnership status, disability, lawful source of income, housing 
status, arrest or conviction record, or status as a victim of domestic violence or of sex 
offenses or stalking, provided that such resident is able to meet the requirements for 
establishing his or her identity and residency as set forth in Section 2-934. 

 
C. Fee: The fees for issuance of a Hartford City ID Card shall be $15 for adults and $10 for 

children 17 years and younger.  The Third Party Administrator may adopt rules permitting 
residents who cannot afford to pay such fee to be granted a full or partial waiver of the fee. 

 
Sec. 2-934 – Eligibility 
 

A. Requirements: In order to obtain a Hartford City ID Card, an applicant must establish proof 
of identity and proof of Hartford residency. 

 
B. Documentation of Identity: In order to establish identity, an applicant shall be required to 

produce one or more of the following documents. Such documents shall be current or expired 
not more than five (5) years prior to the date of the application. The Third Party 
Administrator may determine, by rule, the weight to be given each document and may require 
that an applicant produce more than one document to establish identity. Such rule shall be 
approved in advance by the Program Administrator. 

 
 United States or foreign passport 
 U.S. or foreign driver’s license 
 U.S. state identification card 
 Social Security card 

 3

 Certified copy of a U.S. or foreign birth certificate 
 U.S. or foreign military identification card 
 Current visa issued by a government agency 
 United States permanent resident card 
 U.S. individual taxpayer identification number (ITIN) authorization letter 
 Electronic Benefit Transfer (EBT) card 
 Consular identification card 
 Photo identification card with name, address, date of birth, and expiration date which 

has been issued by another country to its citizens or nationals as an alternative to a 
passport for re-entry to the issuing country 

 National identification card with photograph, name, address, date of birth, and 
expiration date 

 Any other documentation that the Third Party Administrator deems acceptable, 
subject to approval by the Program Administrator. 

 
C. Documentation of Residency: In order to establish residency, an applicant shall be required 

to produce one or more of the following documents, each of which must show the applicant’ s 
name and residential address located within the city and must be dated no more than sixty 
days prior to the date such document is presented, except as otherwise indicated in this 
section.  The Third Party Administrator, with the approval of the Program Administrator, 
may determine, by rule, the weight to be given each document and may require that an 
applicant produce more than one document to establish residency.  The Third Party 
Administrator shall create alternative methods by which individuals who are homeless can 
establish residency, not withstanding the lack of fixed address.  Such methods shall be 
subject to approval by the Program Administrator. 

 
 Utility bill 
 Current residential property lease 
 Hartford property tax statement dated not more than one year prior to the date 

application is submitted. 
 Mortgage payment receipt for real property located within Hartford 
 Bank account statement 
 Employment pay stub 
 Jury summons or court order issued by a federal or state court 
 Federal or state income tax or refund statement dated not more than one year prior to 

the date of application 
 Bill for homeowner, renter, health, life, or automobile insurance 
 Written verification issued by a homeless shelter located in Hartford confirming at 

least fifteen days residency 
 Written verification issued by a hospital, health clinic, or social services agency 

located in Hartford confirming at least fifteen days residency 
 Any other documentation that the Third Party Administrator deems acceptable, 

subject to approval by the Program Administrator. 
 
 
 
 

 4

Sec. 2-935 - Confidentiality of Information 
 

A. Retention of Documentation: Neither the City of Hartford nor its Third Party Administrator 
shall retain originals or copies of records provided by an applicant to prove identity or 
residency when applying for a Hartford City ID Card. 

 
B. Disclosure: The City of Hartford shall not disclose personal information, obtained from 

applicant for a Hartford City ID Card, to any public or private entity or individual, including 
federal, state, or city immigration or law enforcement entities, unless required to do so by 
federal or state law. 

 
Sec. 2-936 - Access to Services 
 

A. All City of Hartford agencies and officers shall accept the Hartford City ID Card as proof of 
identity and residency unless such acceptance is prohibited by state or federal law or unless 
the agency or officer has reasonable grounds to believe that the individual presenting the card 
is not the individual to whom the card was issued. 

 
B. The City of Hartford shall seek to expand the benefits associated with the Hartford City ID 

Card, including encouraging eligible persons to apply for the card and promoting the 
acceptance of the Card by banks, public and private institutions, businesses, and other 
entities. 

 
C. No City of Hartford agency or officer shall require the possession of a Hartford City ID Card 

where or when identification is not already required to obtain City services.  However, 
agencies may require the possession of the Card to obtain benefits or privileges that are 
offered exclusively to those possessing a Hartford City ID Card, as an incentive to apply for 
such Card. 

 
Sec. 2-937 - Counter feit and Fraudulent Cards 
 
It is a violation of this section of the Municipal Code for any person or entity to do any of the 
following acts.  A fine of $100 may be imposed for each violation. 
 

i. To knowingly present false information in the course of applying for a Hartford City 
ID Card,  

 
ii. To alter, copy, or replicate a Hartford City ID Card without the authority of the City 

of Hartford, or 
 
iii. To use the Hartford City ID Card issued to another person, with the intent to cause a 

third person or entity to believe the holder of the Card is the person to whom the card 
was issued. 

 
 
This ordinance shall take effect upon approval by the Court of Common Council. 
 

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 101



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

REGULATORY GUIDANCE—IDNYC

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 102



Building Identity

NCUA OPINION

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 103



IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 104



IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 105



A Toolkit for Designing and Implementing a Successful Municipal ID Program

IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 106



IX.ii. Toolkit for designing and implementing a successful municipal ID program 107


	Inventory
	Cascade Locks
	Hood River
	Parkdale

	Maintenance schedule:
	Emerging technologies
	Update technology needs
	Staff technology needs
	Replacement cycles: All public and staff computers shall be put on a 5-year replacement cycle. Other technology shall be put on a device-relevant cycle.
	Checkouts
	ILLs
	Computer sessions
	Electronic resources
	Patrons
	Programs
	ILLs
	Computer sessions
	Electronic resources
	Patrons
	Programs
	May
	Jun
	Jul
	Aug
	GF resources
	GF expenditures
	Capital
	Grants
	SAGE

